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J.P. MORGAN CHASE BANK BERHAD 
(Incorporated in Malaysia) 
 
 
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 
AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2018 
 
 
 Note 2018 2017 
    
 
ASSETS 
 
Cash and short-term funds 2 4,665,101 3,893,686 
Securities purchased under resale agreement  39,166 46,776 
Financial assets held at fair value through 
   profit and loss  3 2,024,152 887,490 
Derivative financial instruments 4 568,207 516,759 
Financial assets available-for-sale  5 - 148,476 
Financial assets held at fair value through  
    other com  6 1,356,469 - 
Loans and advances 7 353,149 307,077 
Amount due from related parties 8 456,667 549,747 
Statutory deposits with Bank Negara Malaysia 9 2 2 
Other assets 10 87,514 53,854 
Tax recoverable  13,985 19,889 
Deferred tax assets 11 3,120 3,110 
Fixed assets 12 4,085 5,906 
    
TOTAL ASSETS  9,571,617 6,432,772 
   
 
LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS' 
  EQUITY 
 
Deposits from customers 13 6,064,237 3,129,533 
Deposits and placements of banks 
  and other financial institutions 14 550,791 224,762 
Obligations on securities sold under 
  repurchase agreements  21,815 48,384 
Derivative financial instruments 4 546,530 519,968 
Amount due to related parties 15 1,137,157 1,352,728 
Other liabilities 16 137,642 112,439 
    
Total liabilities  8,458,172 5,387,814 
    
 
Share capital 17 127,500 127,500 
Retained earnings  959,653 896,950 
Reserves 18 26,292 20,508 
    

  1,113,445 1,044,958 
    
 
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND 
    9,571,617 6,432,772 
   
 
COMMITMENTS AND 
  CONTINGENCIES 26 77,516,609 64,125,536 
   

  



  Company No.  

316347 D 

 
 

7 

J.P. MORGAN CHASE BANK BERHAD 
(Incorporated in Malaysia) 
 
 
STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018 
 
 
 Note 2018 2017 
    
 
Interest income 19 143,215 87,044 
 
Interest expense 20 (71,329) (47,221) 
    
Net interest income  71,886 39,823 
 
Other operating income 21 180,304 197,599 
    
Net income  252,190 237,422 
 
Operating expenses 22 (160,650) (155,488) 
    
Operating profit before allowances  91,540 81,934 
 
Expected credit losses/allowance for losses 
  on loans and advances 23 (618) (218) 
    
Profit before taxation  90,922 81,716 
 
Taxation 25 (26,249) (21,135) 
    
Net profit for the financial year  64,673 60,581 
    
Other comprehensive income: 
 
Items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss 
- Employee share option scheme  (6,100) 2,139 
 
Items that may be subsequently reclassified 
  to profit or loss 

- Net unrealised loss on revaluation of financial 
   assets available-for-sale  - (279) 
- Net unrealised gain on revaluation of financial  
   assets held at fair value through other 
   comprehensive income debt instruments  122 - 
- Income tax relating to component of other 
   comprehensive income  (29) 67 

    
Other comprehensive (loss)/income, net of tax  (6,007) 1,927 
    
 
Total comprehensive income for the financial year  58,666 62,508 
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J.P. MORGAN CHASE BANK BERHAD 
(Incorporated in Malaysia) 
 
 
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018 
 
 
  2018 2017 
    
 
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES 
 
Profit before taxation  90,922 81,716 
 
Adjustments for items not involving the movement 
  of cash and cash equivalents: 
 
Depreciation of fixed assets  3,495 5,711 
Loss on written-off of fixed assets  18 31 
Expected credit losses/allowance for losses on  
  loan and advances  618 218 
Share options (income)/expenses  (6,100) 2,139 
Net (gain)/loss on derivatives  (11,074) 14,710 
Net unrealised loss from revaluation 
  of financial assets held at fair value through 
  profit and loss  1,519 1,304 
Net unrealised loss/(gain) in revaluation on 
  derivatives  30,196 (27,258) 
    
OPERATING PROFIT BEFORE WORKING 
  CAPITAL CHANGES  109,594 78,571 
 
Decrease in securities purchased under  
  resale agreement  7,610 555,774 
(Increase)/decrease in financial assets held at FVTPL  (1,129,216) 97,497 
(Increase)/decrease in derivative financial instruments  (44,008) 134,019 
Decrease/(increase) in financial assets AFS  148,476 (7,725) 
Increase in financial assets held at FVOCI  (1,356,376) - 
(Increase)/decrease in loans and advances  (45,487) 310,967 
(Increase)/decrease in other assets  (33,631) 219,671 
Increase/(decrease) in deposits from customers  2,934,704 (2,327,657) 
Increase/(decrease) in deposits and placements 
  of banks and other financial institutions  326,029 (15,548) 
Increase/(decrease) in other liabilities  24,856 (275,343) 
Decrease in obligation on securities sold under 
  repurchase agreement  (26,569) (229,617) 
(Decrease)/increase in amount due to related 
  parties  (215,571) 738,988 
    
Cash generated from/(used in) operating activities  700,411 (720,403) 
Income taxes paid  (20,384) (31,075) 
    
Net cash generated from/(used in) operating activities  680,027 (751,478) 
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J.P. MORGAN CHASE BANK BERHAD 
(Incorporated in Malaysia) 
 
 
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018 (CONTINUED) 
 
 
 Note 2018 2017 
    
 
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITY 
 
Purchase of fixed assets  (1,692) (1,459) 
    
Net cash used in investing activity  (1,692) (1,459) 
    
 
NET INCREASE/(DECREASE) IN CASH AND 
  CASH EQUIVALENTS  678,335 (752,937) 
 
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT BEGINNING 
  OF FINANCIAL YEAR  4,443,433 5,196,370 
    
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END 
  OF FINANCIAL YEAR  5,121,768 4,443,433 
   
 
ANALYSIS OF CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 
 
Cash and short-term funds 2 4,665,101 3,893,686 
Amount due from related parties 8 456,667 549,747 
    
  5,121,768 4,443,433 
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J.P. MORGAN CHASE BANK BERHAD 
(Incorporated in Malaysia) 
 
 
SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018 
 
 

 
 

  
 

 
 

 
 

 
 
(a) Standards, amendments to published standards and interpretations that are effective and 

applicable to the Bank. 
 
The following amended standards and annual improvements have been adopted for the 
first time by the Bank for the financial year beginning on 1 January 2018: 
 
 MFRS 9  
  
  

 
The Bank has adopted MFRS 9 and MFRS 15 for the first time in the 2018 financial 
statements, which resulted in changes in accounting policies. Other than that, the adoption 
of other amendments to published standards above did not have any impact on the current 
period or any prior period and is not likely to affect future periods of the financial 
statements of the Bank.  
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J.P. MORGAN CHASE BANK BERHAD 
(Incorporated in Malaysia) 
 
 
SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018 (CONTINUED) 
 
 

  
 
(a) Standards, amendments to published standards and interpretations that are effective and 

applicable to the Bank. (continued) 
 
(i)  

 
The adoption of MFRS 9 has resulted changes in the accounting policies for 
classification and measurement of financial instruments, impairment of financial 
assets and hedge accounting of the Bank. MFRS 9 also significantly amends 

 
 
The Bank has applied MFRS 9 retrospectively with date of initial application of 1 
January 2018. 
 
As permitted by the transition provisions of MFRS 9, the Bank elected not to 
restate the comparatives figures and  continued to be reported under the previous 
accounting policies governed under MFRS 139. Any adjustments to the carrying 
amount of financial assets and liabilities at the end of transition were recognised in 
the opening retained earnings and other reserves of the current financial year.  
 
The consequential amendments to MFRS 7 disclosures have also been applied to 
current reporting period. The comparative notes disclosures repeat those 
disclosures made in the prior year. 
 
The impact of adoption of MFRS 9 of the Bank are summarised in Note 34. 
 

(ii)  
 

Revenue  and MFRS 111 Construction Contracts  and their related 
interpretations. The core principle in MFRS 15 is that an entity recognises revenue 
to depict the transfer of promised goods or services to the customer in an amount 
that reflects the consideration to which the entity expects to be entitled in 
exchange for those goods or services.  
 
MFRS 15 is based on the principal that revenue is recognised when a customer 
obtains control of goods or services, i.e., when the customer has the ability to 
direct the use of and obtain the benefits from the goods or services. 
 
A new five-step process is applied before revenue can be recognised: 
 
 Identify contracts with customers; 
 Identify the separate performance obligations; 
 Determine the transaction price of the contract; 
 Allocate the transaction price to each of the separate performance 

obligations; and 
 Recognise the revenue as each performance obligation is satisfied. 

 
The Bank has applied MFRS 15 with the date of initial application of 1 January 
2018 by adopting the modified retrospective transition method. Under the modified  
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J.P. MORGAN CHASE BANK BERHAD 
(Incorporated in Malaysia) 
 
 
SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018 (CONTINUED) 
 
 

  
 
(a) Standards, amendments to published standards and interpretations that are effective and 

applicable to the Bank. (continued) 
 
(ii)  (continued) 

 
retrospective transition method, the Bank applies the new policy retrospectively 
only to contracts that are not completed contracts at the date of initial application. 
 
Accordingly, the 2017 comparative information was not restated and the 
cumulative effects of initial application of MFRS 15 were not recognised as an 
adjustment to the opening balance of retained earnings as at 1 January 2018 as 
the financial impact is not material to the Bank. The comparative information 
continued to be reported under the previous accounting policies governed under 
MFRS 118. 
 

(iii) Presentation of interest for financial instruments measured at fair value through 
profit or loss 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 
   

 
MFRS 16 has an effective date for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 
2019. MFRS 16 results in lessees accounting for most lease within the scope of the 
standard in a manner similar to the way in which finance leases are currently 
accounted for under MFRS 117  
( ROU ) asset and corresponding lease liability on the balance sheet. The asset will 
be amortised over the length of the lease, and the lease liability measured at 
amortised cost. Lessor accounting remains substantially the same as under MFRS 
117.  
 
At 1 January 2019, the Bank expects to adopt the standard using a modified 
retrospective approach where the cumulative effect of initially applying the standard 
is recognised through an adjustment to the opening balance of retained earnings 
and comparatives are not restated. The implementation is expected to increase 
ROU assets and increase lease liabilities with no effect on net assets or retained 
earnings. 
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J.P. MORGAN CHASE BANK BERHAD 
(Incorporated in Malaysia) 
 
 
SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018 (CONTINUED) 
 
 

  
 

 
 

 

 
 
 

on how to recognise and measure deferred and current income tax assets and 
liabilities where there is uncertainty over a tax treatment. 
 
If an entity concludes that it is not probable that the tax treatment will be accepted 
by the tax authority, the effect of the tax uncertainty should be included in the period 
when such determination is made. An entity shall measure the effect of uncertainty 
using the method which best predicts the resolution of the uncertainty. IC 
Interpretation 23 will be applied retrospectively. 

 
 

companies to measure some prepayable financial assets with negative 
compensation at amortised cost. Negative compensation arises where the 
contractual terms permit the borrower to prepay the instrument before its contractual 
maturity, but the prepayment amount could be less than the unpaid amounts of 
principal and interest. To qualify for amortised cost measurement, the negative 
compensation must be reasonable compensation for early termination of the 
contract, and the asset must be held within a 'held to collect' business model. The 
amendments will be applied retrospectively. 
 

  2017 Cycle: 
 
 

consequences of dividends on financial instruments classified as equity is 
recognised (either Statement of Comprehensive Income or Equity) depends 
on where the past transactions that generated distributable profits were 
recognised. Accordingly, the tax consequences are recognised in profit or loss 
when an entity determines payments on such instruments are distribution of 
profits (that is, dividends). Tax on dividend should not be recognised in equity 
merely on the basis that it is related to a distribution to owners. 
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J.P. MORGAN CHASE BANK BERHAD 
(Incorporated in Malaysia) 
 
 
SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018 (CONTINUED) 
 
 

  
 

 
 

 
 

- -
 

 
Accounting policies applied from 1 January 2018 
 

- -

 
 
Accounting policies applied until 31 December 2017 
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J.P. MORGAN CHASE BANK BERHAD 
(Incorporated in Malaysia) 
 
 
SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018 (CONTINUED) 
 
 

  
 

 
 

 
 

  
 

 
 

  
 
Accounting policies applied from 1 January 2018  
 
(a) Classification and measurement 

 
With effect from 1 January 2018, the Bank has applied MFRS 9 and classifies its financial 
assets as amortised cost, fair value through other comprehensive income or fair value 
through profit or loss.  The classification is based on both the business model for 
managing the financial assets and their contractual cash flow characteristics. Factors 
considered by the Bank in determining the business model for a group of assets include 
past experience on how the cash flows for these assets are 
performance is evaluated, how risks are assessed and managed.  
 

(b) Recognition and derecognition 
 
The Bank recognises financial assets and financial liabilities when it becomes a party to 
the contractual provisions of the instrument. Regular way purchases and sales of financial 
assets are recognised on the trade-date, which is the date on which the Bank commits to 
purchase or sell an asset. Financial assets are derecognised when the rights to receive 
cash flows from the financial assets have expired or have been transferred and the Bank 
has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership. 
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J.P. MORGAN CHASE BANK BERHAD 
(Incorporated in Malaysia) 
 
 
SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018 (CONTINUED) 
 
 

  
 
Accounting policies applied from 1 January 2018 (continued) 
 
(c) Subsequent measurement 

 
There are three measurement categories into which the Bank classifies its financial assets 
and financial liabilities: 
 
(i) Amortised cost 

 
Financial assets are measured at amortised cost if they are held under a business 
model with the objective to collect contractual cash flows ("Hold to Collect") and they 
have contractual terms under which cash flows are solely payments of principal and 
interest ("SPPI").  In making the SPPI assessment, the Bank considers whether the 
contractual cash flows are consistent with a basic lending arrangement (i.e., interest 
includes only consideration for the time value of money, credit risk, other basic 
lending risks and a profit margin that is consistent with a basic lending 
arrangement).  
 
Interest income from these financial assets is included in interest income using the 
effective interest rate method. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition is 
recognised directly in income statement and presented in net gain and loss from 
financial instruments together with foreign exchange gains and losses. Impairment 
losses are presented as separate line item in the income statement. 
 
Financial assets measured at amortised cost include cash and short-term funds, 
loans and advances, securities purchased under resale agreements, amount due 
from related parties, statutory deposits with BNM and other assets. 
 

(ii) Fair value through other comprehensive income ( FVOCI ) 
 
Financial assets are measured at FVOCI if they are held under a business model 
with the objective of both collecting contractual cash flows and selling the financial 
assets ("Hold to Collect and Sell"), and they have contractual terms under which 
cash flows are SPPI. Movements in the carrying amount are taken through OCI, 
except for the recognition of impairment gains or losses, interest income and foreign 
exchange gains and losses which are recognised in income statement. When the 
financial asset is derecognised, the cumulative gain or loss previously recognised in 
OCI is reclassified from equity to income statement and recognised in other 
gains/(losses) on financial instruments. Interest income from these financial assets 
is included in interest income using the effective interest rate method. Foreign 
exchange gains and losses are presented in other gains/(losses) on financial 
instruments and impairment losses are presented as separate line item in the 
Statement of Comprehensive Income.  
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J.P. MORGAN CHASE BANK BERHAD 
(Incorporated in Malaysia) 
 
 
SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018 (CONTINUED) 
 
 

  
 
Accounting policies applied from 1 January 2018 (continued) 
 
(c) Subsequent measurement (continued) 

 
(iii) Fair value through profit or loss ( FVTPL ) 

 
Assets that do not meet the criteria for amortised cost or FVOCI are measured at 
FVTPL. The Bank may also irrevocably designate financial assets at FVTPL if doing 
so significantly reduces or eliminates a mismatch created by assets and liabilities 
being measured on different bases. Fair value changes are recognised in income 
statement and presented net within other gains/(losses) on financial instruments in 
the period which they arise. Transaction costs of financial assets carried at FVTPL 
are expensed off in income statement. 
 

(d) Impairment of financial assets and lending-related commitments 
 
The Bank recognises ECL  for financial assets that are measured 
at amortised cost or FVOCI, and specified off-balance sheet lending-related commitments 
such as loan commitments and financial guarantee contracts. 
 
Allowances for ECL are recognised on initial recognition of the financial instrument based 
on expectations of credit losses at that time. The expected credit loss allowance includes 
ECLs for financial instruments that may default in the next 12-month period for financial 
instruments that have not observed a significant increase in credit risk since initial 

S
observed a significant increase S
allowance also includes lifetime ECLs for financial instruments where there is objective 
evidence of credit- S
appropriate stage for a financial instrument, the Bank applies the definition of default 
consistent with the . 
 
The determination of the stage for credit losses under the ECL model is dependent on the 
measurement of a significant increase in credit risk ( SICR ). In determining SICR, the 
Bank has conducted quantitative tests, which consider, but is not limited to, existing risk 
management indicators, credit rating changes and reasonable and supportable forward-
looking information. Forward-looking information reflects a range of scenarios that 
incorporate macro-economic factors that are composed and monitored by a JPMorgan 
Ch -wide specialised economic forecasting team. 
 
The key input components for the quantification of expected credit loss through the ECL 

 at 
Differences observed between content in existing frameworks and 

requirements under MFRS 9 have been identified and are adjusted accordingly. The 
inputs to the ECL model capture historical datasets and supportable forecasting horizon to 
estimate expected credit losses. 
 
Note 30 provides more detail on how the expected credit loss allowance is measured. 
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018 (CONTINUED) 
 
 

  
 
Accounting policies applied from 1 January 2018 (continued) 
 
(e) Write-off 

 
Loan and advances  are written off when it is highly certain that a loss has been realised. 
The determination of whether to recognise a write-off includes  the prioritisation of the 
Bank e loan and 

/ loan collateral. 
 
All other financial assets are written off when there is no reasonable expectation of 
recovery and the amount of loss can be reasonably estimated or when the asset is past 
due for a specified period. 
 

(f)  
 
The fair value of financial instruments measured at FVTPL and FVOCI such as exchange-
traded and over-the-counter securities and derivatives, is determined by reference to a 
quoted market price for that instrument or by using internally developed valuation models. 
Where the fair value is calculated by using internally developed valuation models, the 
methodology is to calculate the expected cash flows under the terms of each specific 
contract and then discount these values back to a present value. These models use as 
their basis independently sourced market parameters including interest rate yield curves, 
equities prices, option volatilities and currency rates. 
 

(g) Regulatory reserve requirements 
 
Pursuant to BNM letter dated 1 November 2017, effective from 1 January 2018, the Bank 
shall maintain, in aggregate, Stage 1 and Stage 2 provisions and regulatory reserves of no 
less than 1% of all credit exposures (on and off balance sheet that are subject to MFRS 9 
impairment requirement, excluding exposures to and with an explicit guarantee from 
Malaysia Government, Bank, a licensed bank, a licensed investment bank, a licensed 
Islamic Bank and a prescribed development financial institution) net of Stage 3 provision. 
 
Prior to MFRS 9 implementation, the Bank was required to maintain in aggregate 
collective impairment allowances and regulatory reserves of no less then 1.2% of the total 
outstanding loans, advances and financing, net of individual impairment allowances. 
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Accounting policies applied until 31 December 2017 
 

 
 

- - - -
 

 
  

 
 

 
 
 

- -
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

  
 
 -

 
 
 

 
 

 - -  
 
 - - -

- -
- -

 
 
 - -

 
 
 - -
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Accounting policies applied until 31 December 2017 (continued) 
 

 - -  
 
 - -

 
 
 - -

- -

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 
The Bank assesses at each balance sheet date whether there is objective evidence that loans and 
receivables or available-for-sale financial assets are impaired. Impairment losses are incurred if, 
and only if, there is objective evidence of impairment as a result of one or more loss events that 

and that loss event or events has had an impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial 
asset or the portfolio that can be reliably estimated. 
 
The criteria that the Bank uses to determine that there is objective evidence of an impairment loss 
include: 
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Accounting policies applied until 31 December 2017 (continued) 
 

 
 
The criteria that the Bank uses to determine that there is objective evidence of an impairment loss 
include: (continued) 
 

  
  

 

 
  
 

 
 
For loans and receivables, the Bank first assesses whether objective evidence of impairment 
exists individually for loans and receivables that are individually significant, and individually or 
collectively for loans and receivables that are not individually significant. If the Bank determines 
that no objective evidence of impairment exists for an individually assessed loan and receivable, 
whether significant or not, it includes the asset in a group of loans and receivables with similar 
credit risk characteristics and collectively assesses them for impairment. Loans and receivables 
that are individually assessed for impairment and for which an impairment loss is or continues to 
be recognised are not included in a collective assessment of impairment. 
 

ing amount 

interest rate. The amount of the loss is recognised using an allowance account and recognised in 
the income statement. 
 
Where appropriate, the calculation of the present value of the estimated future cash flows of a 
collateralised loan and receivable asset reflect the cash flows that may result from foreclosure 
costs for obtaining and selling the collateral, whether or not foreclosure is probable. 
 
For the purposes of a collective evaluation of impairment, loans and receivables are grouped on 
the basis of similar risk characteristics, taking into account asset type, industry, geographical 
location, collateral type, past due status and other relevant factors. These characteristics are 
relevant to the estimation of future cash flows for groups of such assets by being indicative of the 

s of the assets being 
evaluated. 
 
Future cash flows in a group of loans and receivables that are collectively evaluated for impairment 
are estimated on the basis of the contractual cash flows of the assets in the group and historical 
loss experience for assets with credit risk characteristics similar to those in the group. Historical 
loss experience is adjusted based on current observable data to reflect the effects of current 
conditions that did not affect the period on which the historical loss experience is based and to 
remove the effects of conditions in the historical period that do not currently exist. The 
methodology and assumptions used for estimating future cash flows are reviewed regularly to 
reduce any differences between loss estimates and actual loss experience. 
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Accounting policies applied until 31 December 2017 (continued) 
 
Impairment of financial assets (continued) 
 
If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be 
related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment was recognised, the previously 
recognised impairment loss is reversed by adjusting the allowance account. The amount of the 
reversal is recognised in the income statement. 
 
Write-off 
 
When a loan is uncollectible, it is written off against the related allowance for loan impairment. 
Such loans are written off after all the necessary procedures have been completed and the amount 
of the loss has been determined. Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off are 
credited to the income statement. 
 

  
 

 
 

 
 

 -  
 

 
 

- -
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 -  
 

 
 

  
 
  
 
  
 
  
  Years 
 Bank premises 
  - improvements, furniture and fittings  Lower of the remaining 
  lease term or 10 years 
  - office machinery and equipment 5 
 Computers 3 - 5 
 
 The residual values and useful lives are reviewed and adjusted if appropriate, at each balance 

sheet date. 
 
 Depreciation on capital work-in-progress commences when the assets are ready for their intended 

use. 
 
 

 
 
 Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing proceeds with carrying amount and 

are included in the income statement. 
 
  

 
(a) Functional and presentation currency 
 
 

and presentation currency. 
 
(b) Foreign currency transactions and balances 
 
 Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the 

exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions.  Foreign exchange gains and 
losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions and from the translation at year-
end exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies 
are recognised in the income statement, except when deferred in equity as qualifying cash 
flow hedges.  
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018 (CONTINUED) 
 
 

  
 
(b) Foreign currency transactions and balances (continued) 
 
 Changes in the fair value of monetary securities denominated in foreign currency classified 

as FVOCI/available-for-sale are analysed between translation differences resulting from 
changes in the amortised cost of the securities and other changes in the carrying amount 
of the securities. Translation differences related to changes in the amortised cost are 
recognised in income, and other changes in the carrying amount are recognised in equity. 

 
 Non-monetary items that are measured at fair value in a foreign currency are translated 

using the exchange rates at the date when the fair value was determined. Translation 
differences on assets and liabilities carried at fair value are reported as part of the fair 
value gain or loss. Translation differences on non-monetary financial assets and liabilities 
such as equities held at fair value through profit or loss are recognised in income 
statement as part of the fair value gain or loss. 

 
  

 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 - - -
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 -  
 
 -

 
 
  
 
 

 
 
 

 
 
  
 
 -

- -
 

 
 -

-

 
 
The Bank has recognised all equity compensation benefits as equity-settled, whereby all these 

mployee benefit 
expenses where the Bank has an obligation to settle with JPMorgan Chase & Co the 

 
 

  
 
 

 
 
 



  Company No.  

316347 D 

 
 

28 

J.P. MORGAN CHASE BANK BERHAD 
(Incorporated in Malaysia) 
 
 
SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
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 Financial guarantee contracts are contracts that require the Bank to make specified payments to 

reimburse the holder for a loss it incurs because a specified debtor fails to make payments when 
due, in accordance with the terms of a debt instrument. 

 
 Financial guarantee contracts are recognised as a financial liability at the time the guarantee is 

issued. The liability is initially measured at fair value.  
 
 The fair value of financial guarantees is determined as the present value of the difference in net 

cash flows between the contractual payments under the debt instrument and the payments that 
would be required without the guarantee, or the estimated amount that would be payable to a third 
party for assuming the obligations. 

 
Accounting policies applied from 1 January 2018 

 
 Financial guarantee contracts are subsequently measured at the higher of the amount determined 

in accordance with the expected credit loss model under MFRS 9 Financial instruments  and the 
amount initially recognised less cumulative amount of income recognised in accordance with the 
principles of MFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers , where appropriate. 

 
 Accounting policies applied until 31 December 2017 
 
 Financial guarantee contracts are subsequently measured at the higher of the amount determined 

in accordance with MFRS 137 Provisions, contingent liabilities and contingent assets  and the 
amount initially recognised less cumulative amortisation, where appropriate. 

 
  

 
 -  
 

  
 
 

-
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
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P CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS 
 

ascertain the valuation of assets and liabilities. The Bank has established detailed policies and 
control procedures intended to ensure that valuation methods, including any judgements made as 
part of such methods, are well-controlled, independently reviewed and applied consistently from 
period to period. In addition, the policies and procedures are intended to ensure that the process 
for changing methodologies occurs in an appropriate manner. The Bank believes its estimates for 
determining the valuation of its assets and liabilities are appropriate. The following is a brief 

 
 
(a) Fair value of financial instruments 
 
 Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in 

an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date. T
assets reported at fair value are based upon quoted market prices or upon internally 
developed models that utilise independently sourced market parameters, including interest 
rate yield curves, option volatilities and currency rates. 

 
 The degree of management judgement involved in determining the fair value of a financial 

instrument is dependent upon the availability of quoted market prices or observable 
market parameters. For financial instruments that are traded actively and have quoted 
market prices or parameters readily available, there is little-to-no subjectivity in 
determining fair value. When observable market prices and parameters do not exist, 
management judgement is necessary to estimate fair value. The valuation process takes 
into consideration factors such as liquidity and concentration concerns and, for the 
derivatives portfolio, counterparty credit risk. 

 
  financial assets held at fair value through profit and loss or held for trading are 

valued based upon quoted market prices. The 
internally developed models that use as their basis readily observable market parameters 
 that is, parameters that are actively quoted and can be validated to external sources, 

including industry-pricing services. Certain derivatives, however, are valued based upon 
models with significant unobservable market parameters  that is, parameters that must 
be estimated and are, therefore, subject to management judgement to substantiate the 
model valuation. These instruments are normally either traded less actively or trade 

(i.e., reductions) to model valuations to account for parameter uncertainty when valuing 
complex or less actively traded derivative transactions. 
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018 (CONTINUED) 
 
 

P CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 
(b) Expected credit losses/allowance for losses on loans and advances 
 
 Applied from 1 January 2018 
 
 An ECL is required for financial assets measured at amortised cost and fair value through 

other comprehensive income as well as lending-related commitments such as loan 
commitments and financial guarantees. The measurement of ECL requires the use of 
complex models and significant assumptions about future economic conditions and credit 
behaviours. Explanation of the inputs, assumptions and estimation techniques used in 
measuring ECL is further detailed in Note 30, which also sets out key sensitivities of the 
ECL to changes in these inputs. 

 
 A number of significant judgements are also required in measuring ECL, such as: 

 Determining the criteria for identifying when financial instruments have experienced 
a significant increase in credit risk; 

 Choosing appropriate forecasts and assumptions for the measurement of ECL; 
 Establishing the number and relative weightings of forward-looking scenarios for 

each type financial instrument/market and the associated ECL; and 
 Establishing groups of similar financial assets for the purposes of measuring ECL. 

 
For Multinational Corporations ( MNC ) exposures which are not supported by legally 
enforceable guarantee, management makes judgement based of local standalone risk 
grading for ECL measurement. 
 
Applied until 31 December 2017 
 
The Bank makes allowance for losses on loans and advances based on assessment of 
recoverability. Whilst management is guided by the relevant BNM guidelines, management 
makes judgement on the future and other key factors in respect of the recovery of loans 
and advances. Among the factors considered are the net realisable value of the underlying 

sufficient cash flow to service debt obligations and the aggregate amount and ranking of 
all other creditor claims. 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018 
 
 

1 GENERAL INFORMATION 
 
 The principal activities of the Bank are banking and related financial services. There was no 

significant change in the nature of these activities during the financial year. 
 
 The Bank is a wholly-owned subsidiary of J.P. Morgan International Finance Ltd., a corporation 

incorporated in the United States of America.  The Directors regard JPMorgan Chase & Co., a 

corporation. 
 
 The Bank is a limited liability company, incorporated and domiciled in Malaysia. 
 
 The principal place of business and address of the registered office of the Bank is Level 18, 

Integra Tower, The Intermark, 348 Jalan Tun Razak, 50400 Kuala Lumpur, Malaysia. 
 
 
2 CASH AND SHORT-TERM FUNDS 
  2018 2017 
    
 
 Cash and balances with banks and other 
   financial institutions 35,230 29,684 
 Money at call and deposit placements 
   maturing within one month 4,629,871 3,864,002 
    
  4,665,101 3,893,686 
   
 
 
3 FINANCIAL ASSETS HELD AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT AND LOSS 
 
  2018 2017 
    
 Money market instruments 
 
 Malaysian Government Securities 1,223,825 534,543 
 Bank Negara Interbank Bills 397,942 - 
 Malaysian Treasury Bills 4,943 - 
 Malaysian Government Investment Issuance 192,568 246,479 
 
 Unquoted securities 
 
 Private debt securities 197,344 106,468 
 Unquoted shares 7,530 - 
    
  2,024,152 887,490 
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 NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018 (CONTINUED) 
 
 
4 DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 
 
  Notional                               Fair values 
   amount Assets Liabilities 
     
 
 At 31 December 2018 
 
 Foreign exchange derivatives 
 
 Currency forwards 33,486,761 140,859 (154,760) 
 Cross-currency interest rate swaps 3,737,930 48,587 (61,349) 
 Currency options 82,740 963 - 
     
     
     
 Interest rate derivatives 
 
 Interest rate swaps 34,526,127 80,223 (45,938) 
 
  
 
     
 
 Equity related derivatives 
 
 Equity options 3,467,847 279,523 (277,854) 
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 NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018 (CONTINUED) 
 
 
4 DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 
  Notional                               Fair values 
   amount Assets Liabilities 
     
 
 At 31 December 2017 
 
 Foreign exchange derivatives 
 
 Currency forwards 18,787,523 228,080 (284,851) 
 Cross-currency interest rate swaps 3,912,471 76,707 (100,586) 
 Currency options 20,273 1 - 
     
     
     
 Interest rate derivatives 
 
 Interest rate swaps   (75,279) 
 
  
 
    - 
 
 Equity related derivatives 
 
 Equity options 2,568,635 77,527 (59,252) 
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 NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
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5  FINANCIAL ASSETS AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE 
  2018 2017 
    
 
 Money market instruments 
 
 Malaysia Treasury Bills - 148,476 
  
 
6  FINANCIAL ASSETS HELD AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME  
 
  2018 2017 
    
 
 Money market instruments 
 
 Bank Negara Interbank Bills 1,356,469 - 
  
 
7 LOANS AND ADVANCES 
 
 (i) Loans and advances analysed by type 
    of loan are as follows: 

    Overdrafts 27,847 37,503 
    Housing loans 600 703 
    Staff loans 652 741 
    Revolving credits 218,155 175,981 
    Trade finance 106,099 93,475 
     
   353,353 308,403 
  Less:  Expected credit loss /allowance for losses 
              on loans and advances: 
              - Individual assessment - (41) 
              - Collective assessment - (1,285) 

- Credit impaired (23) - 
- Not credit impaired (181) - 

     
    Total net loans and advances 353,149 307,077 
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7 LOANS AND ADVANCES (CONTINUED) 
   2018 2017 
   RM'000 RM'000 
 
 (ii) The maturity structure of loans 
    and advances are as follows: 

    Maturity within 
     - one year 352,255 306,973 
     - one year to three years 46 172 
     - three years to five years 169 118 
     - over five years 883 1,140 
     
   353,353 308,403 
     
 
 (iii) Loans and advances analysed by 
    type of customers are as follows: 

    Domestic business enterprises 332,573 273,388 
    Individuals 1,252 1,444 
    Foreign entities 19,528 33,571 
     
   353,353 308,403 
     
 
 (iv) Loans and advances analysed by 
    interest sensitivity are as follows: 

    Fixed rate 
    - Housing loans 1,252 1,444 
    Variable rate 
    - Cost-plus 352,101 306,959 
     
   353,353 308,403 
     
 
 (v) Loans and advances analysed by their  
    economic purpose are as follows: 

    Purchase of landed properties 1,252 1,444 
    Working capital 352,101 306,959 
     
   353,353 308,403 
     
 
 (vi) Loans and advances analysed by their  
    geographical distribution are as follows: 

    In Malaysia 333,825 274,832 
    Other countries 19,528 33,571 
     
   353,353 308,403 
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7 LOANS AND ADVANCES (CONTINUED) 
   2018 2017 
   RM'000 RM'000 
 
 (vii) Loans and advances analysed by   
    measurement basis are as follows: 

    Amortised cost 353,353 308,403 
     
 
 (viii) Impaired loans 

 (a) Movements in impaired loans and 
    advances are as follows: 
 
   At 1 January 111 123 
    Classified as impaired during the financial year 10 54 
    Reclassified as performing during the financial year - (54) 
    Amount recovered (55) (12) 
     
   At 31 December 66 111 
    Individual assessment allowance - (41) 
    ECL  credit impaired (23) - 
     
  Net impaired loans and advances 43 70 
     
  Ratio of net impaired loans and 
    advances to net loans and advances 0.01% 0.02% 
     
 
 (b) Movements in ECL/allowance for impaired 
    loans and advances are as follows: 

  Individual assessment allowance 

  At 1 January 41 45 

  Effects of adoption of MFRS 9   (41) - 
     
   - 45 
  Written back during the financial year - (4) 
     
  At 31 December - 41 
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7 LOANS AND ADVANCES (CONTINUED) 
   2018 2017 
   RM'000 RM'000 
 (viii) Impaired loans (continued) 

 (b) Movements in ECL/allowance for impaired loans and 
  advances are as follows: (continued) 
 

  Collective assessment allowance 

  At 1 January 1,285 1,053 

  Effects of adoption of MFRS 9   (1,285) - 
     
   - 1,053 
  Written back during the financial year - 232 
     
  At 31 December - 1,285 
     
 
 (c) Impaired loans analysed by their 
    economic purpose are as follows: 
 
    Purchase of landed property 66 111 
     
 
 (d) Impaired loans analysed by their 
    geographical distribution are as follows: 
 
    Malaysia 66 111 
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8 AMOUNT DUE FROM RELATED PARTIES 
 
  2018 2017 
  RM'000 RM'000 
 
 Current deposits 92,534 357,284 
 Other receivables 364,133 192,463 
    
  456,667 549,747 
    
 
 
9 STATUTORY DEPOSITS WITH BNM 
 
 The non-interest bearing statutory deposits are maintained with BNM in compliance with Section 

26(2)(c) of the Central Bank of Malaysia Act, 2009, the amount of which is determined at set 
percentages of total eligible liabilities. 

 
 As of 31 December 2018, the Bank has RM2,000 (2017: RM2,000) statutory deposits with BNM. 
 
 
10 OTHER ASSETS 
  2018 2017 
  RM'000 RM'000 
 
 Other receivables 77,844 49,612 
 Deposits and prepayments 9,670 4,242 
    
  87,514 53,854 
    
 
 
11 DEFERRED TAX ASSETS 
 
 Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to set off 

current tax assets against current tax liabilities and when the deferred taxes relate to the same tax 
authority. The following amounts, determined after appropriate offsetting, are shown in the 
Statement of Financial Position. 

 
  2018 2017 
    
 
  (98) (60) 
 Financial assets held at fair value through other  
   comprehensive income/available-for-sale (41) (12) 
 Other liabilities 3,259 3,182 
    
 Deferred tax assets 3,120 3,110 
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11 DEFERRED TAX ASSETS (CONTINUED) 
 
 The movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities during the financial year comprise the 

following: 
 
  Excess of Fair value 
   depreciation through other 
  over capital comprehensive Other 
    allowances    income liabilities Total 
    RM'000 RM'000 
 2018 
 
 At 1 January (60) (12) 3,182 3,110 
 Credited/(Debited) to Income 
   Statement (Note 25) (38) - 77 39 
 Charged to reserve - (29) - (29) 

 At 31 December (98) (41) 3,259 3,120 

 
  Excess of Financial 
  depreciation assets 
  over capital available- Other 
    allowances    for-sale liabilities Total 
    RM'000 RM'000 
 2017 
 
 At 1 January (830) (79) 3,312 2,403 
 Credited/(Debited) to 
   income statement (Note 25) 770 - (130) 640 
 Charged to reserve - 67 - 67 

 At 31 December (60) (12) 3,182 3,110 

 



  Company No.  

316347 D 

 
 

40 

J.P. MORGAN CHASE BANK BERHAD 
(Incorporated in Malaysia) 
 
 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018 (CONTINUED) 
 
 

12 FIXED ASSETS 
  Bank 
  premises Computers Total 
  RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 
 2018 
 
 Cost 
 
 At 1 January 16,939 18,462 35,401 
 Additions 6 1,686 1,692 
 Disposals and write-off - (597) (597) 
    
 At 31 December 16,945 19,551 36,496 
     
 Accumulated depreciation 
 
 At 1 January 12,979 16,516 29,495 
 Charge for the financial year 2,372 1,123 3,495 
 Disposals and write-off - (579) (579) 
    
 At 31 December 15,351 17,060 32,411 
     
 Net book value 
 
 At 31 December 1,594 2,491 4,085 
     
 
  Bank 
  premises Computers Total 
  RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 
 2017 
 
 Cost 
 
 At 1 January 16,939 19,325 36,264 
 Additions - 1,459 1,459 
 Disposals and write-off - (2,322) (2,322) 
    
 At 31 December 16,939 18,462 35,401 
     
 Accumulated depreciation 
 
 At 1 January 10,237 15,838 26,075 
 Charge for the financial year 2,742 2,969 5,711 
 Disposals and write-off - (2,291) (2,291) 
    
 At 31 December 12,979 16,516 29,495 
     
 Net book value 
 
 At 31 December 3,960 1,946 5,906  
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13 DEPOSITS FROM CUSTOMERS 
   2018 2017 
   RM'000 RM'000 
 (i) Deposits from customers analysed by type 
    of deposits are as follows: 
 
  Demand deposits 6,036,321 3,101,125 
  Fixed deposits 27,916 28,408 
     
   6,064,237 3,129,533 
     
 
  Maturity structure of fixed deposits are as follows: 
 
  Due within six months 27,916 28,408 
     
 
 (ii) Deposits from customers analysed  
    by type of customers are as follows: 
 
  Business enterprises 6,063,882 3,129,157 
  Others 355 376 
     
   6,064,237 3,129,533 
     
 
 
14 DEPOSITS AND PLACEMENTS OF BANKS 
   AND OTHER FINANCIAL INSTITUTIONS 
 
 Licensed banks 549,063 220,681 
 Other financial institutions 1,728 4,081 
    
  550,791 224,762 
    
 
 
15 AMOUNT DUE TO RELATED PARTIES 
 
 Current deposits 106,265 158,176 
 Fixed deposits 1,018,320 1,186,853 
 Other payables 12,572 7,699 
    
  1,137,157 1,352,728 
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16 OTHER LIABILITIES 
  2018 2017 
    
 
 Other payables 122,461 99,300 
 Accruals and charges 14,298 13,139 
 Expected credit losses  off-balance sheet lending commitment  883 - 
    
  137,642 112,439 
    
 
 
17 SHARE CAPITAL 
 
 Issued and fully paid: 
   At 1 January 127,500 85,500 
   Transfer from share premium - 42,000 
    
   At 31 December 127,500 127,500 
    
 
 The Companies Act, 2016 in Malaysia, which came into effect on 31 January 2017, abolished the 

concept of authorised share capital and par value of share capital. Key changes as below: 
 

(a) the removal of the authorised share capital; 
(b) the ordinary shares of the Bank will cease to have par or nominal value; and 
(c)  
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18 RESERVES 
  2018 2017 
  RM'000 RM'000 
 
 Option reserve 11,953 18,053 
 Regulatory reserve 14,206 2,415 
 Fair value reserve  available-for-sale securities - 40 

Fair value reserve  Financial asset through other 
  comprehensive income 133 - 

    
  26,292 20,508 
    
 
 (i) The statutory reserve is maintained in compliance with BNM guidelines. Effective 3 May 

2017, there is no requirement to maintain statutory reserves for banking entities in 
Malaysia, in accordance with BNM Guideline  Capital funds. The Bank has released 
these reserves of RM97,778,000 and transfer back to retained earnings as of 31 
December 2017. 

 
 (ii) The option reserve is maintained in compliance with MFRS 2 - Share-based payment. 
 
 (iii) Regulatory reserve of the Bank is maintained as an additional credit risk absorbent to 

ensure robustness on the loan impairment assessment methodology.  
 
 (iv) Movement of the fair value reserve of financial assets held at fair value through other 

comprehensive income/available-for-sale securities is as follows: 
 
   2018 2017 
   RM'000 RM'000 
 
  At 1 January 40 252 
  - Net unrealised loss on revaluation of financial assets  
       available for sale - (279) 
  - Net unrealised gain on revaluation of financial assets  
       Measured at fair value through other comprehensive  
       income debt instruments 122 - 
  - Income tax relating to component of other  

     comprehensive income (29) 67 
     
  At 31 December 133 40 
     
 
 
 

  



  Company No.  

316347 D 

 
 

44 

J.P. MORGAN CHASE BANK BERHAD 
(Incorporated in Malaysia) 
 
 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018 (CONTINUED) 
 
 

19 INTEREST INCOME 
  2018 2017 
  RM'000 RM'000 

 Loans and advances 
  - Interest income other than recoveries from 
      impaired loans 13,805 10,341 
  - Recoveries from impaired loans 11 6 
 Money at call and placements with financial institutions 99,085 72,064 
 Financial assets held at fair value through  
      other comprehensive income/available-for-sale 30,314 4,633 
    
  143,215 87,044 
    
 
 
20 INTEREST EXPENSE 
 
 Deposits from customers 59,530 34,621 
 Deposits and placements of banks and 
   other financial institutions 11,799 12,600 
    
  71,329 47,221 
    
 
 
21 OTHER OPERATING INCOME 
 
 Fee income: 
   Service charges and fees 4,643 4,405 
   Guarantee fees 3,622 3,688 
    
  8,265 8,093 
 Net income from securities: 
  - Net gain from sale of financial assets held 
      at fair value through profit and loss  5,017 11,783 
  - Net unrealised loss from revaluation of financial 
      assets held at fair value through profit and loss (1,519) (1,304) 

- Interest income from financial assets held at fair value 
 through profit and loss 43,974 48,746 

 
 Derivatives: 
  - Net gain/(loss) on derivatives 11,074 (14,710) 
  - Unrealised (loss)/gain from revaluation of derivatives (30,196) 27,258 
 
 Other income: 
 Foreign exchange gain 73,885 58,415 
 Other operating income 69,714 59,082 
 Loss on written-off of fixed assets (18) (31) 
 Other non-operating income 108 267 
    
  180,304 197,599 
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22 OPERATING EXPENSES  
  2018 2017 
  RM'000 RM'000 
 

(a) Operating expenses 
 
Personnel costs: 
 - Wages, salaries and bonuses 41,870 39,065 
 - Defined contribution retirement plan 5,793 5,533 
 - Other employee benefits 10,005 8,019 
 
 57,668 52,617 
 
Establishment costs: 
 - Equipment and fittings repairs, maintenance 
     and rental 1,648 1,154 
 - Rental of premise 3,620 3,764 
 - Depreciation of fixed assets 3,495 5,711 
 - Utilities 820 769 
 - Others 1,027 750 
 
 10,610 12,148 
 
Marketing expenses 1,499 1,549 
 
Administration and general expenses: 
 - Management and attribution fees paid 75,406 79,976 
 - Banking and corporate expenses 8,990 3,973 
 - Office supplies, communication expenses 
     and insurance 4,360 3,781 
 - Postage and shipping charges 83 213 
 - Other general expenses 2,034 1,231 
 
 90,873 89,174 
   
 160,650 155,488 
   
 
The above expenditure includes the following 
  statutory disclosures: 
 
Directors' remuneration (Note 24) 4,954 4,540 
Hire of equipment 465 441 
Auditors' remuneration: 
 - audit fees 358 343 
 - non-audit fees 146 86 
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22 OPERATING EXPENSES (CONTINUED) 
  2018 2017 
  RM'000 RM'000 
 

(b) Management and attribution fees breakdown  
   by geographical location 
 
United States of America  29,939 23,031 
Singapore 20,761 20,846 
Hong Kong 13,765 17,964 
United Kingdom 5,318 3,962 
Malaysia 756 975 
Others 4,867 13,198 
   
 75,406 79,976 
   
 
Management and attribution fees breakdown  
   by type of services  
 
Information Technology Related Support 20,704 19,299 
Transaction Management Services 8,426 11,286 
Sales and Marketing Attribution 7,803 3,571 
Operational Services Support 4,529 4,525 
Finance Support 4,085 4,159 
Wholesale Client Onboarding 3,259 3,269 
Treasury Support 2,989 2,572 
Credit Portfolio Group 2,896 2,527 
Compliance 2,657 3,474 
Corporate Finance Support 2,160 1,381 
Others 15,898 23,913 
   
 75,406 79,976 
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23 EXPECTED CREDIT LOSSES/ALLOWANCE FOR LOSSES ON LOANS AND ADVANCES 
 
  2018 2017 
  RM'000 RM'000 
 
 Expected credit losses/Allowance for losses 
   on loans and advances: 
 
 (a) Individual assessment allowance 
   - Written back - 4 
 
 (b) Collective assessment allowance 
   - Made - (232) 
 
 ECL  off-balance sheet lending commitment (537) - 
 ECL  loans and advances (80) - 
 
 Loans and advances (written off)/recovered (1) 10 
     
  (618) (218) 
    
 
 
24 DIRECTORS' REMUNERATION 
 
 Chief Executive Officer: 
  - Salary, bonuses and other remuneration 4,402 4,062  
  - Defined contribution retirement plan 518 475 
  - Benefits-in-kind 34 3 

  4,954 4,540  
    
 Executive Director: 
  - Fees/allowances   
       John Leo Buckley (resigned on 19 June 2018) - - 

  - - 
    
 Non-executive Directors: 
  - Fees/allowances 
       Faisal Bin Ismail 156 116 
       Omar bin Malek Ali Merican 131 114 
       Robert Armor Morris 120 - 
       Fauziah Binti Hisham (resigned on 7 March 2018) 29 146 
        Christine Lau (resigned on 22 September 2017) - 82 

  436 458 
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25 TAXATION 
 
  2018 2017 
  RM'000 RM'000 
 
 (a) Tax expense for the financial year 
 
  Current year tax 
   - Malaysian income tax 25,316 21,812 
  -    
   
   
  -  (37) (414) 
  -  Under provision in respect of prior years (2) (226) 
     
   26,249 21,135 
     
 
 (b) Numerical reconciliation of income tax expense 
 
  The explanation on the relationship between tax expense and profit before tax is as 

follows: 
 
  2018 2017 
    
 
  Profit before taxation 90,922 81,716 
     
 
     
     
  Under/(over)    
     
     
    21,135 
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26 COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES 
 
 In the normal course of business, the Bank makes various commitments and incurs certain 

contingent liabilities with legal recourse to its customers.  No material losses are anticipated as a 
result of these transactions. 

 
 The commitments and contingencies constitute the following: 
 
  2018 2017 
  Principal Principal 
    amount   amount 
  RM'000 RM'000 
 Credit-related 
 
 Direct credit substitutes 479,113 211,350 
 Transaction-related contingent items 69,002 37,791 
 Short-term self-liquidating trade related 
   contingencies 1,382 27,485 
 
 Other commitments, such as formal standby 
   facilities and credit lines, with an original 
   maturity of: 
   -  over one year 174,117 150,361 
 
 Any commitments that are unconditionally cancelled 
   at any time by the bank without prior notice or that 
   effectively provide for automatic cancellation due to 
    1,117,244 1,431,395 
 
 Treasury-related 
 
 Foreign exchange related contracts: 
 - less than one year 33,639,324 18,957,817 
 - one year to less than five years 3,461,257 2,742,824 
 - more than five years 206,850 1,019,626 
 
 Interest rate related contracts: 
 - less than one year 5,588,611 8,838,712 
 - one year to less than five years 27,887,921 25,891,420 
 - more than five years 1,049,595 2,198,070 
 
 Credit related contracts: 
 - one year to less than five years 374,346 50,050 
 
 Equity related contracts: 
 - less than one year 2,346,030 1,855,696 
 - one year to less than five years 1,121,817 712,939 
     
  77,516,609 64,125,536 
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27 SIGNIFICANT RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND BALANCES 
 
 The related parties of, and their relationship with the Bank, are as follows: 
 
 Name of related parties Relationship 
 
 JPMorgan Chase & Co. Ultimate holding corporation 
 JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., New York Subsidiary of ultimate holding corporation 
     
 JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., Hong Kong Branch of the Head Office 
 JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., Labuan Branch of the Head Office 
 JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., Frankfurt Branch of the Head Office 
 JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., London Branch of the Head Office 
 JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., Singapore Branch of the Head Office 
 JPMorgan Securities (Malaysia) Sdn Bhd  Subsidiary of ultimate holding corporation 
 J.P. Morgan Services (Malaysia) Sdn Bhd  Subsidiary of ultimate holding corporation 
 
 Key management personnel 
 
 Key management personnel are defined as those persons having authority and responsibility for 

planning, directing and controlling the activities of the Bank either directly or indirectly.  The key 
management personnel of the Bank includes all the Directors and members of the Management 
Committee. 

 
 Set out below are other significant related party transactions and balances. 
 
                                 2018                                2017 
   Key  Key 
  Related management Related management 
   entities       personnel  entities      personnel 
      
 
 Significant related party 
   transactions of the Bank: 
 
 Income 

 Interest on current deposit 2,718 - 395 - 
 Interest on fixed deposit - - 18 - 
 Management and attributions 
    fees received 69,714 - 59,082 - 
      
 
  

 Interest on current deposit 1,724 - 1,401 - 
 Interest on fixed deposit 2,398 - 6,537 - 
 Rental recovery (1,112) - (1,080) - 
 Nostro account charges 61 - 69 - 
 Management and attribution  
    fees paid 75,406 - 79,976 - 
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27 SIGNIFICANT RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND BALANCES (CONTINUED) 
 
                                     2018                                     2017 
   Key  Key 
  Related management  Related management 
   entities       personnel  entities      personnel 
      
 
  
 
  
 
   -  - 
   -  - 
      
   -  - 
      
  
 
   -  - 
   -  - 
   -  - 
      
   -  - 
      
 
 Transactions with related parties are aggregated because these transactions are similar in nature 

and no single transaction with these parties is significant enough to warrant separate disclosure. 
 
 Interest rates on deposits were at normal commercial rates. 
 
 Key management compensation: 
  2018 2017 
    
 
 Salaries and other short-term employee benefits 13,195 11,070 
    
 
  Unit Unit 
 
 Shares, restricted stock units and share options balance  
   of ultimate holding corporation 10,969 66,891 
    
 
 Included in the above is the Executive Directors  compensation which is disclosed in Note 24.  The 

shares, restricted stock units and share options are granted on the same terms and conditions as 
those offered to other employees of the Bank. 
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27 SIGNIFICANT RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND BALANCES (CONTINUED) 
 
  
 
 

 
 
    
    
 
    
    
 
  
  
    
    
 
  
 -  
    
    
 
 
28 NON CANCELLABLE OPERATING LEASE COMMITMENTS 
 
 The Bank has lease commitments in respect of rented premises, which is classified as operating 

leases.  A summary of the non-cancellable long-term commitments representing minimum rentals 
which the Bank is obliged to pay are as follows: 

 
  2018 2017 
    
 
 Not later than one year 106 108 
 Later than one year and not later than five years 308 414 
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29 CAPITAL ADEQUACY 
 
 The capital adequacy ratios of the Bank are computed in accordance with Bank Negara Malaysia's 

revised Risk-Weighted Capital Adequacy Framework: Standardised Approach for Credit and 
Market Risk, and Basic Indicator Approach for Operational Risk (Basel II). 

 
 The capital adequacy ratios of the Bank are as follows: 
 
  2018 2017 
   000 
 
 Tier-I capital 
 
 Paid-up share capital 127,500 127,500 
 Retained earnings 959,653  896,950 
 Fair value reserve  available-for-sale securities - 40 
 Fair value reserve through  
   other comprehensive income 133 - 
 Option reserve 11,953 18,053 
    
  1,099,239  1,042,543 
 
 Deferred tax assets (3,120) (3,110) 
 Financial Assets available-for-sale securities - (22) 
 Financial Assets at fair value through other   
   other comprehensive income (73) - 
    
 Total Tier I capital 1,096,046  1,039,411 
    
 
 Tier-II capital 
 
 Regulatory reserve 14,206 2,415 
 Collective assessment allowance  - 1,285 
 ECL not credit impaired  181 - 
    
 Total Tier II capital 14,387 3,700 
    
 
 Total capital 1,110,433 1,043,111 
    
 
 Common Equity Tier 1 capital ratio 23.174% 25.911% 
 Tier 1 capital ratio 23.174% 25.911% 
 Total capital ratio 23.478% 26.004% 
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29 CAPITAL ADEQUACY (CONTINUED) 
 
 Total risk weighted assets and capital requirements as at 31 December 2018: 
 
     Risk 
   Gross Net weighted Capital 
 Exposure Class exposures exposures     assets requirements 
       
 (a) Credit Risk 
 
  On-balance sheet exposures 
  Sovereigns/central banks 6,054,980 6,054,980 248,235 19,859 
  Public Sector Entities 158 158 32 3 
  Banks 261,662 261,662 52,345 4,188 
  Insurance companies, 
    securities firms and 
    fund managers 298,911 298,911 149,870 11,990 
  Corporates 354,525 354,525 353,312 28,265 
  Residential mortgages 1,182 1,182 414 33 
  Higher risk assets 4 4 6 1 
  Other assets 24,748 24,748 24,594 1,967 
  Defaulted exposures 43 43 21 2 
       
  Total on-balance sheet 
    exposures 6,996,213 6,996,213 828,829 66,308 
       
  Off-balance sheet exposures 
  Over-the-  
    derivatives 2,498,437 2,498,437 951,363 76,108 
  Off balance sheet exposures 
    other than OTC derivatives 600,948 600,948 584,962 46,796 
       
  Total off-balance sheet exposures 3,099,385 3,099,385 1,536,325 122,904 
       
  Total on and off-balance sheet 
    exposures 10,095,598 10,095,598 2,365,154 189,212 
       
 
    Long Short 
    position position 
 (b) Market risk 
   
  Interest rate risk  92,387,526 90,369,435 1,446,957 115,756 
  Equity position risk  15,909 - 6,363 509 
  Foreign currency 
    risk  1,533 90,754 90,750 7,260 
  Options risk   357,613 28,609 
 
 (c) Operational risk   462,880 37,030 
       
  Total risk weighted assets 
    and capital requirements   4,729,717 378,376 
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29 CAPITAL ADEQUACY (CONTINUED) 
 
 Total risk weighted assets and capital requirements as at 31 December 2017: 
 
     Risk 
   Gross Net weighted Capital 
 Exposure Class exposures exposures     assets requirements 
       
 (a) Credit Risk 
 
  On-balance sheet exposures 
  Sovereigns/central banks 4,087,691 4,087,691 81,099 6,488 
  Banks 594,364 594,364 124,962 9,997 
  Insurance companies, 
    securities firms and 
    fund managers 32,715 32,715 16,372 1,310 
  Corporates 306,960 306,960 306,960 24,557 
  Residential mortgages 1,328 1,328 508 41 
  Higher risk assets 4 4 6 - 
  Other assets 10,576 10,576 10,150 812 
  Defaulted exposures 111 111 111 9 
       
  Total on-balance sheet 
    exposures 5,033,749 5,033,749 540,168 43,214 
       
  Off-balance sheet exposures 
  Over-the-  
    derivatives 2,393,520 2,393,520 949,839 75,987 
  Off balance sheet exposures 
    other than OTC derivatives 310,922 310,922 302,695 24,216 
       
  Total off-balance sheet exposures 2,704,442 2,704,442 1,252,534 100,203 
       
  Total on and off-balance sheet 
    exposures 7,738,191 7,738,191 1,792,702 143,417 
       
 
    Long Short 
    position position 
 (b) Market risk 
 
  Interest rate risk  85,484,880 84,242,850 1,274,851 101,988 
  Equity position risk    - - 
  Foreign currency 
    risk  744 184,585 184,588 14,767 
  Options risk   321,413 25,713 
 
 (c) Operational risk   437,854 35,028 
       
  Total risk weighted assets 
    and capital requirements   4,011,408 320,913 
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29 CAPITAL ADEQUACY (CONTINUED) 
 
Off balance sheet counterparty risk as at 31 December 2018: 
 
  Credit Risk 
 Principal equivalent weighted 
   amount    amount*   amount 
    
 
Direct credit substitutes 479,113 479,113 467,360 
Transaction-related contingent items 69,002 34,500 30,267 
Short-term self-liquidating trade related 
  contingencies 1,382 276 276 
 
Foreign exchange related contracts: 
- less than one year 33,639,324 579,311 259,452 
- one year to less than five years 3,461,257 349,180 123,066 
- more than five years 206,850 42,236 11,798 
 
Interest rate related contracts: 
- less than one year 5,588,611 15,280 4,995 
- one year to less than five years 27,887,921 763,008 262,044 
- more than five years 1,049,595 61,787 19,758 
 
Credit derivative contracts 
- one year to less than five years 374,346 83,572 27,748 
 
Equity related contracts 
- less than one year 2,346,030 439,456 136,257 
- one year to less than five years 1,121,817 164,607 106,245 
 
Other commitments, such as formal standby 
  facilities and credit lines, with an original 
  maturity of over one year 174,117 87,059 87,059 
 
Any commitments that are unconditionally  
cancelled at any time by the bank without prior 
notice or that effectively provide for automatic 

 
creditworthiness 1,117,244 - - 
    
 77,516,609 3,099,385 1,536,325 
    
 
* The credit equivalent amount is arrived at using the credit conversion factors as per Bank 

Negara Malaysia guidelines. 
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29 CAPITAL ADEQUACY (CONTINUED) 
 
Off balance sheet counterparty risk as at 31 December 2017: 
 
  Credit Risk 
 Principal equivalent weighted 
   amount    amount*   amount 
    
 
Direct credit substitutes 211,350 211,350 205,445 
Transaction-related contingent items 37,791 18,895 16,573 
Short-term self-liquidating trade related 
  contingencies 27,485 5,497 5,497 
 
Foreign exchange related contracts: 
- less than one year 18,957,817 524,512 250,330 
- one year to less than five years 2,742,824 295,514 128,328 
- more than five years 1,019,626 190,831 44,370 
 
Interest rate related contracts: 
- less than one year 8,838,712 43,128 18,100 
- one year to less than five years 25,891,420 848,925 297,510 
- more than five years 2,198,070 157,309 61,996 
 
Credit derivative contracts 
- one year to less than five years 50,050 11,059 2,212 
 
Equity related contracts 
- less than one year 1,855,696 194,258 71,575 
- one year to less than five years 712,939 127,984 75,418 
 
Other commitments, such as formal standby 
  facilities and credit lines, with an original 
  maturity of over one year 150,361 75,180 75,180 
 
Any commitments that are unconditionally  
cancelled at any time by the bank without prior 
notice or that effectively provide for automatic 
cancellation due to deteriorat  
creditworthiness 1,431,395 - - 
    
 64,125,536 2,704,442 1,252,534 
    
 
* The credit equivalent amount is arrived at using the credit conversion factors as per Bank 

Negara Malaysia guidelines. 
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30 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 
 
 The Bank has developed and implemented comprehensive policies and procedures to identify, 

mitigate and monitor risk across the entity which are based on JPMC policies.  These practices 
rely on constant communications, judgement and knowledge of products and markets by the 
people closest to them, combined with regular oversight by a central risk management group and 
senior management. 

 
(i) Credit risk 

 
Expected credit loss measurement 
 
Approach to measuring expected credit losses 
 
The Bank estimates credit impairment through an allowance for expected credit losses 

r 
FVOCI and for specified lending-related commitments, such as loan commitments and 
financial guarantee contracts. The measurement of ECLs must reflect: 
 
(a) An unbiased and probability weighted amount that is determined by evaluating a 

range of possible outcomes 
 

(b) The time value of money; and 
 

(c) Reasonable and supportable information about past events, current economic 
conditions, and forecasts of future economic conditions. 

 
The measurement of ECL also reflects how the Bank manages the financial instruments it 

measured at FVOCI, and non- -
loans and lending-related commitments from extensions of credit to borrowers; debt 
securities which are debt instruments such as government bonds; whereas Non-TCP are 
all other debt financial assets measured at amortised cost which include, but are not 
limited, to reverse repurchase agreements, margin loans, fee receivables, and inter-
company receivables or loans. 
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30 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 
 
(i) Credit risk (continued) 

 
The following table sets out the balances of the Bank
at amortised cost or FVOCI by the respective TCP, Non-TCP and debt securities 
categories.  
 
                                     31 December 2018 
   Debt 
Balance sheet categories TCP Non-TCP securities 
    
Assets 
 
Cash and short-term funds - 4,665,101 - 
Financial assets at fair value through  
  other comprehensive income  
   - - 1,356,469 
Loans and advances  353,149 - - 
Amount due from related parties - 456,667 - 
Other assets - 87,514 - 
    
 
Off-balance sheet lending-related commitments which are categorised as TCP with an 
ECL allowance of RM883,000 and is reported in other liabilities are not included in the 
table above.  
 
The Bank uses statistical models to estimate ECLs for TCP on a collective basis; however 
ECL for credit-impaired instruments is estimated on an individual borrower basis. When 
determining how exposures should be grouped for collective assessment, the Bank 
considers many factors including, but not limited to, internal credit risk ratings, tenure, 
borrower geography and industry.  The Bank's internal risk ratings generally correspond to 

Service. For 
Non-TCPs, the Bank utilises a combination of an established provision matrix, as well as 
quantitative and qualitative considerations to estimate ECLs.  
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30 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 
 
(i) Credit risk (continued) 

 
Impact of staging on measuring expected credit losses 
 
ECLs are measured using a three stage model based on changes in credit quality of the 

 
 

 Stage 1  performing financial instruments that have not had a significant increase 
in credit risk since initial recognition; 

 Stage 2  performing financial instruments that have experienced a significant 
increase in credit risk; and   

 Stage 3  non-performing financial instruments that have been determined to be 
credit-impaired.  

 
Stage 3 - Default and credit-impairment 
 
Financial instruments are included in Stage 3 when there is objective evidence of 
impairment at the reporting date. For Stage 3 instruments, ECL is calculated considering 

l
individual asset basis and interest income is calculated on the net carrying amount (that is, 
net of the allowance for expected credit losses). All financial assets, regardless of their 
category as TCP, Non-TCP or debt security, are considered to be credit-impaired and 
included in Stage 3 when one or more of the following events that has a detrimental 
impact on the estimated future cash flows of that financial asset has occurred: 
 
(a) Significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the borrower; 
(b) A default or past due event; 
(c) The Bank has granted a concession to the borrower for economic or contractual 

 
(d) It has become probable the borrower will enter bankruptcy or other financial 

reorganisation; 
(e) An active market for that financial asset no longer exists because of the borrower's 

financial difficulties; or 
(f) A financial asset is purchased or originated at a deep discount that reflects a credit 

loss has been incurred. 
 
The criteria above are consistent with how the Bank nal credit risk 
management purposes. 
 
A financial asset is considered to no longer be in default (i.e. the default has been cured) 
when the borrower has made payments for a minimum of six months and there is other 
objective evidence of credit improvement. 
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30 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 
 
(i) Credit risk (continued) 

 
Stage 2 - Significant increase in credit risk 
 

since initial recognition for which there is no objective evidence of impairment are included 
in Stage 2. For Stage 2 instruments, ECL is calculated considering the probability of 
default over the remaining life of the instrument  on a collective basis and 
interest income is calculated on the gross carrying amount of the asset (that is, without 
deduction for the expected credit loss allowance). 
 
The Bank assesses for evidence of a SICR by considering whether there has been a 
change in the risk of a default occurring since the financial instrument was initially 
recognised. 
 
For TCP, the Bank considers a financial instrument to have experienced a SICR when any 
of the following quantitative or qualitative criteria has been met: 
 
 Quantitative criteria 

 
The Bank 
changed between a financial instruments initial recognition and the reporting date. If 
the change in PD exceeds certain thresholds, the instrument has experienced a 
SICR. The assessment of the PD takes into account reasonable and supportable 
information, including information about past events, current and future economic 
conditions. 
 
 Default grade 1 to 4+ at initial recognition: 3 notch downgrade (minimum) 

unless the rating after downgrade remains 3- or better; 
 Default grade 4 to 5- at initial recognition: 2 notch downgrade; and  
 Default grade 6+ to 8 at initial recognition: 1 notch downgrade. 

 
 Qualitative criteria 

 
The Bank monitors borrowers that may become impaired by including them on its 
watch list. Obligors that are on the watch list are considered to have experienced 
SICR. The Bank also monitors changes in internal credit risk ratings and 
delinquency triggers to determine if a borrower has experienced SICR. 
 
The Bank
borrowers. For these borrowers, short-term delinquencies alone are not considered 
to be a meaningful credit quality indicator as the Bank
other internal credit quality indicators generally identifies increases in credit risk well 
before delinquency.  As such, the Bank has determined that using the quantitative 
and qualitative criteria described above are most appropriate for capturing SICR for 
TCP. 
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30 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 
 
(i) Credit risk (continued) 

 
Stage 2 - Significant increase in credit risk (continued) 

 
 Qualitative criteria (continued) 

 
Financial instruments that are in Stage 2 are moved to Stage 1 in the period that the 
quantitative and qualitative criteria for a SICR no longer exist. 
The approach for determining whether there has been a SICR for Non-TCP 
portfolios depends on the type of instrument.  The Bank presumes non-TCP 
financial assets that are 30 days past due have experienced a SICR and are 
included in Stage 2 except for certain fee receivables that are classified in Stage 2 
at 90 days past due. Finally, the remainder of the Bank -TCP are mostly short-
term and generally no SICR has arisen prior to the maturity of that instrument. 

 
Stage 1 - Unimpaired and without significant increase in credit risk 
 
Financial instruments that have not experienced SICR since initial recognition are included 
in Stage 1  For Stage 1 
instruments, ECL is calculated by considering the probability of default within 12 months 
after the reporting date on a collective basis and  interest income is calculated on the 
gross carrying amount of the asset (that is, without deduction for the expected credit loss 
allowance). 
 
Sensitivity analysis of ECL due to staging 
 
The following table shows the impact of staging on the Bank recognised on balance 
sheet, by comparing the allowance if all performing financial assets were in Stage 1 or if all 
such assets were in Stage 2 to the actual ECL recorded on these assets: 
 
   Impact of change 
   in staging on 
  ECL- the statement of 
 Gross loans All performing comprehensive 
 and advances       loans in Stage 1                 income 
    
Stage 1 272,056 138 - 
Stage 2 81,231 21 22 
 
   Impact of change 
   in staging on 
  ECL- the statement of 
 Gross loans All performing comprehensive 
 and advances       loans in Stage 2                 income 
    
Stage 1 272,056 249 (111) 
Stage 2 81,231 43 - 
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30 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 
 
(i) Credit risk (continued) 

 
ECL measurement for TCP Portfolios 
 
Key Inputs 
 
In broad terms, ECLs for the Bank
following key inputs: 
 

 : The PD model estimates the probability of downgrade 
and default each quarter.  The 12-month and lifetime PDs represent the probability 
of default occurring over the next 12 months and the remaining maturity of the 
instrument respectively. The model considers input variables that are region-, 
industry- and borrower segment-specific and considers both scenario- and 
borrower-specific information. PDs are determined at a facility-level based on risk 
ratings and other characteristics. 
 

 : The EAD model predicts gross exposure upon a 
of the total commitment at the reporting date 

under a given macroeconomic environment.  The model estimates the probability of 
a change in the utilisation, and direction and magnitude of the change. Input 
variables include exposure and utilisation at the reporting date, facility purpose, 
industry and macro-  
 

 : The LGD model estimates expected losses under given 
macroeconomic environments on the EAD given the event of default and, taking into 
account, among other attributes, the mitigating effect of collateral and the time value 
of money. 

 
The 12-month ECL is calculated by multiplying the 12-month PD, EAD and LGD. Lifetime 
ECL is calculated using the lifetime PD instead. 
 
Forward-looking information 
 
ECL estimates are derived from historical experience and future forecasted economic 
conditions.  To incorporate forward-looking information into the ECL calculation, three 
forecasted economic scenarios (base, upside and downside cases) are developed. Each 
of these scenarios contains a set of MEVs that reflect forward-looking economic and 
financial conditions. MEVs include, but are not limited to FX rates, inflation and GDP per 
country or country block. MEVs for each scenario are projected over a reasonable and 
supportable forecast period of two years. After the forecast period, the losses revert to 
historical averages over a one-year transition period. 
 
On a quarterly basis, the three economic scenarios are updated and probability weighted.  
Judgement is involved to develop the scenarios and assign probability weightings. The 

generally be expected to be weighted more heavily than the other two scenarios. 
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30 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 
 
(i) Credit risk (continued) 

 
Forward-looking information (continued) 
 
The PD, LGD and EAD models are designed to forecast the credit quality and 
performance of a TCP portfolio based on industry, geography, rating and size of obligors, 
among other attributes of the portfolio. PD, LGD and EAD models are calibrated based on 
historical MEVs and use forecasted macroeconomic scenarios for projecting PD, LGD and 
EAD values. 
 
ECL calculation 
 
ECL calculation is based on the forward-looking PD, LGD, and EAD values for each of the 

probability-weighted calculation of the three SCLs discounted using the original effective 
interest rate or an approximation thereof. 
 

inal results reflect the Bank
on its exposures.  Management overlays are only applied if necessary to account for 
significant idiosyncratic risks which are not yet reflected in underlying risk ratings, LGD, 
exposure profile or scenario weights used and which are expected to have a high 
probability of occurrence.   
 
The Bank follows the policies and prac it Risk Policy 

of the Allowance for Credit Losses, to preserve the independence and integrity of the of 
the approval and decision-making process. 
 
For Multinational Corporations ( MNC ) exposures which are not supported by legally 
enforceable guarantee, management makes judgement based of local standalone risk 
grading for ECL measurement. 
 
There have not been any significant changes in estimation techniques or assumptions 
made during the reporting period. 
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30 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 
 
(i) Credit risk (continued) 

 
Stage 3 portfolio estimation techniques 
 
The Bank also uses three scenarios to estimate ECL for Stage 3 loans. However, these 
scenarios focus on the microeconomic conditions applicable to a specific borrower as 
those considered the most relevant in predicting losses for that borrower are applied. The 
borrower may be experiencing a variety of specific difficulties, and no one macroeconomic 
theme can be applied to the total impaired loan portfolio. 
 
ECL measurement for Non-TCP portfolio 
 
The Bank -TCP portfolios depends on the type of 
instrument. 
 
Fee receivables 
 
For fee receivables arising from contracts with customers (e.g. brokerage fee receivables), 
the Bank applies a provision matrix as a practical expedient for calculating expected credit 
losses.  The matrix provides that in the case of institutional customers, a receivable is 
considered to have experienced SICR (i.e. Stage 2) if it is 90 days past due and credit-
impaired (i.e. Stage 3) if it is 180 days past due at which point an ECL for 100% of the 
amount owned is recognised.  In the case of non-institutional customers, a receivable is 
considered to have experienced SICR (i.e. Stage 2) if it is 30 days past due and credit-
impaired (i.e. Stage 3) if it is 90 days past due at which point an ECL for 100% of the 
amount owned is recognised. The Bank has not had significant losses on its fee receivable 
portfolios and the ECL impact is considered to be immaterial.  
 
Other non-TCP 
 
The Bank has determined that ECLs on all other non-TCP portfolios are immaterial due to: 
the existence of credit risk mitigants such as the existence of the collateral; the credit 
quality of the borrower (e.g. investment-grade); and/or the short-term nature of the 
instrument. Similarly, the Bank has determined that these non-TCP portfolios are without 
SICR (i.e Stage 1) due to the credit quality of the borrower and/or the short-term nature of 
the instrument. 
 
For inter-company loans and receivables, the Bank evaluates the counterparty based on 

an/receivable, and any 
collateral received.  The Bank has not experienced any losses on inter-company loans and 
receivables. 
 
The Bank continues to monitor its Non-TCP portfolios to ensure the described framework 
is appropriate and its exposure to credit risk and ECLs on these portfolios is adequately 
reflected in the allowance for credit losses. 
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30 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 
 
(i) Credit risk (continued) 

 
ECL and gross carrying amount reconciliation 
 
The following tables provide an explanation of the change in the loss allowance during the 
year ended 31 December 2018 by respective product classes.  The tables also set out 
how significant changes in the gross carrying amount of financial instruments contributed 
to the changes in the loss allowance: 
 
(a) Loans and advances to customers at amortised cost 
 
      Stage 1         Stage 2      Stage 3 
  Lifetime ECL Lifetime 

 12 months Non Credit ECL Credit 
           ECL        Impaired     Impaired Total 
 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 

Expected credit losses 
As at 1 January 2018  85 - 39 124 
Loans derecognised or repaid (7) - (3) (10) 
New originated  40 16 - 56 
Changes due to change in credit risk 37 - (13) 24 
Changes in models/risk parameters 3 - - 3 
Transfers:  
    Transfer from Stage 1 to Stage 2 (20) 27 - 7 
         
As at 31 December 2018 138 43 23 204 
     
 
The allowance on ECL recognised in the period is impacted by the following judgement 
criterias: 
 

 Determining criteria for significant increase in credit risk; 
 Choosing appropriate models and assumptions for the measurement of ECL; 
 Establishing the number and relative weightings of forward-looking scenarios for 

each type of product/market and the associated ECL; and 
 Establishing groups of similar financial assets for the purposes of measuring ECL. 

 
Increase in ECL in 2018 as compared to 2017 mainly arising from the increase in gross 
loans and advances by RM44,950,000 or 15% to RM353,353,000 (2017: RM308,403,000) 
coupled with the increase in credit risk for the exiting loans and advances. 
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30 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 
 

(i) Credit risk (continued) 
 

(b) Lending related commitments and financial guarantee contracts 
 
      Stage 1         Stage 2      Stage 3 
  Lifetime ECL Lifetime 

 12 months Non Credit ECL Credit 
           ECL        Impaired     Impaired Total 
 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 

 
Expected credit losses 
As at 1 January 2018  76 270 - 346 
Loans derecognised or repaid (5) (281) - (286) 
New originated 2 558 - 560 
Changes due to change in credit risk 172 77 - 249 
Changes in models/risk parameters 8 6 - 14 
     
As at 31 December 2018  253 630 - 883 
     
 
Increase in ECL in 2018 as compared to 2017 for lending related commitments and 
financial guarantee contracts mainly attributable to the increase in financial guarantee 
contracts from RM405,930,000 to RM683,172,000. 
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30 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 
 
(i) Credit risk (continued) 

 
 Maximum exposure to credit risk 
 
 The table below shows the maximum exposure to credit risk for the components of the Statement 

of Financial Position, including derivative financial instruments. 
 
 The maximum exposure is shown gross, without taking account of any collateral held or other 

credit enhancements. 
 
  Note 2018 2017 
     
 
 Assets 
 
 Cash and short-term funds 2 4,665,101 3,893,686 
 Securities purchased under resale 
   agreement  39,166 46,776 
 Financial assets held at fair value through 

    3 2,024,152 887,490 
 Derivative financial instruments 4 568,207 516,759 
 Financial assets available-for-sale 5 - 148,476 
 Financial assets at fair value through  
    6 1,356,469 - 
 Loans and advances# 7 353,149 307,077 
 Amount due from related parties 8 456,667 549,747 
 Statutory deposits with BNM 9 2 2 
 Other assets 10 87,514 53,854 
 Tax recoverable  13,985 19,889 
     
 Total assets*  9,564,412 6,423,756 
     
 
 Commitments and contingencies 29 3,099,385 2,704,442 
     
 Total credit exposure  12,663,797 9,128,198 
     
 

* Excludes deferred tax assets and fixed assets. 
# Includes ECL allowance of RM204,000 (2017: Individual assessment and collective 

assessment of RM1,326,000) 
 
 Risk concentrations for commitments and contingencies are based on the credit equivalent 

balances in Note 29. 
 
 Where financial instruments are recorded by fair value, the amounts shown above represent the 

current credit risk exposure but not the maximum risk exposure that could arise in the future as a 
result of changes in values. 
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(Incorporated in Malaysia) 
 
 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018 (CONTINUED) 
 
 

30 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 
 

(i) Credit risk (continued) 

 
Analysis of Loans and Advances 
 

 (a) 
-impaired and impaired loans. 

 
   Corporates Individuals Total 
      
  2018 
 
  Gross amount 
  - Non credit impaired 352,101 1,186 353,287 
  - Credit impaired - 66 66 
  Provision for expected credit losses (181) (23) (204) 
      
   351,920 1,229 353,149 
      
 
  2017 
 
  Gross amount 
  - Non credit impaired 306,959 1,333 308,292 
  - Credit impaired - 111 111 
  Provision for expected credit losses (1,272) (54) (1,326) 
      
   305,687 1,390 307,077 
      
 
 (b) Loans and advances individually impaired 
 
  The individual impaired loans and advances to customers before taking into consideration 

the cash flows from collateral held is RM66,000 (2017: RM111,000). 
 
  The breakdown of the gross amount of individually impaired loans and advances by class, 

along with the fair value of related collateral held by the Bank as security, are as follows: 
 
   Individuals Total 
     
  2018 
 
  Gross amount 66 66 
  Fair value of collateral 298 298 
 
  2017 
 
  Gross amount 111 111 
  Fair value of collateral 397 397 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018 (CONTINUED) 
 
 

30 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 

(i) Credit risk (continued) 

 Credit quality of financial assets 

The table below presents the Bank s, loan 
commitments and financial guarantee contracts before any allowance for ECL. The credit quality 
and credit concentration are managed within the JPMorgan Chase's Credit Risk Management 
function. The ratings scale is based on the JPMorgan Chase's internal risk ratings, which generally 

 
 
Loans and advances 
                                                         Stages MFRS 9 MFRS 139 
    Stage 1 Stage 2  Stage 3       2018          2017 
 12-month Lifetime Lifetime 
         ECL       ECL       ECL Total Total 
      
Rating grades  
Investment-grade 
   AAA/Aaa to BBB-Baa3 79,573 - - 79,573 156,820 
Non-investment-grade 
   BB+/Ba1 -> B-/B3 192,483 77,061 66 269,610 132,395 
   CCC+/Caa1 and below - 4,170 - 4,170 19,188 
      
Gross carrying amount 272,056 81,231 66  353,353 308,403 
 
Loss allowance (138) (43) (23) (204) (1,326) 
      
Net carrying amount 271,918 81,188 43  353,149 307,077 
      
 
Loan Commitments and Financial Guarantees contract 

                                                         Stages MFRS 9 MFRS 139 
    Stage 1 Stage 2  Stage 3       2018          2017 
 12-month Lifetime Lifetime 
         ECL       ECL       ECL Total Total 
      
Rating grades  
Investment-grade 
   AAA/Aaa to BBB-Baa3 355,080 35 - 355,115 189,267 
Non-investment-grade 
   BB+/Ba1 -> B-/B3 181,534 146,523 - 328,057 214,663 
   CCC+/Caa1 and below - - - - 2,000 
      
Gross carrying amount* 536,614 146,558 - 683,172 405,930  
 
Loss allowance (253) (630) - (883) - 
      
Net carrying amount 536,361 145,928 - 682,289 405,930  
      
 
* Gross carrying amount excludes intercompany financial guarantee contracts (Non-TCP 

Product) of RM40,442,000 (2017: RM21,057,000) 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018 (CONTINUED) 
 
 

30 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 
 
(i) Credit risk (continued) 

 
Credit quality of financial assets (continued) 
 
The table below presents an analysis of the credit quality of treasury bills and securities for the 
Bank by rating: 
 
  Fair value through other 
 Fair value through profit or loss/  comprehensive income/ 
                            Held for trading                   Available-for-sale 
 Malaysia Private debt Malaysia Bank Negara 
 treasury bills         securities treasury bills    Interbank Bills Total 
      
 
2018 
 
AAA 1,819,278 197,344 - 1,356,469 3,373,091 
      
 
2017 
 
AAA 781,022 106,468 148,476 - 1,035,966 
      
 

(ii) Market risk 
 
 Market risk comes mainly from trading and investing in client-focused activities, and is the risk of 

losses arising from adverse movements in market prices.  Market risks are most commonly sub-
divided into interest rate risk, equity risk, foreign exchange risk and commodity risk, depending on 
whether the risk factor is an interest rate, a stock price, etc. Market risk is identified, measured, 
monitored and controlled by an independent corporate risk governance function. Market Risk 
Management is responsible for the establishment of market risk policies and monitoring of risk 
limits. 

 
 The portfolio effect of holding different instruments across a variety of business activities and asset 

classes helps to diversify the market risk the Bank is exposed to and reduces the potential losses 
from market risk. 

 
 

in market conditions is key to managing market risks. Quantitative and qualitative measures are an 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018 (CONTINUED) 
 
 

30 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 
 

(ii) Market risk (continued) 
 

Market risk is the risk associated with the effect of changes in market factors such as interest and 
foreign exchange rates, equity and commodity prices, credit spreads or implied volatilities, on the 
value of assets and liabilities held for both the short and long term. 
 
Market Risk Management monitors market risks throughout the Bank and defines market risk 
policies and procedures. The Market Risk Management function seeks to manage risk, facilitate 
efficient risk/return decisions, reduce volatility in operating performance and provide transparency 

 
 
Risk Governance & Policy Framework 
 

h to market risk governance 
 

 
 ket 

 
 Market Risk measures utilised such as VaR, stress-testing and non-statistical measures 
 

limit reviews and escalation) 
 

Framework and approves this Framework annually. 
 
Risk Measurement 
 
The Bank uses both statistical and non-statistical measures to assess risk. As the appropriate set 
of risk measures utilised for a given business activity depends on business mandate, risk horizon, 
materiality, market volatility and other factors, not all measures are used in all cases.  
 
VaR 
 
The Bank utilises value risk measure, to estimate the potential loss 
from adverse market moves in the current market environment. The Bank has a single VaR 
framework used as a basis for calculating Risk Management VaR. 
 
The Bank applies the Firmwide approach for Risk Management VaR, which is calculated assuming 
a one-day holding period and an expected tail-loss methodology utilising a 99% confidence level 
for internal risk management purposes. 
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30 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 
 

(ii) Market risk (continued) 
 
VaR (continued) 
 

 
 
 2018 2017 
   
 
99% VaR 3,338 2,597 
   
 
Stress Testing 
 
Along with VaR, stress testing is an important tool in measuring and controlling risk. The Firmwide 

  exposure to unlikely but plausible 
events in abnormal markets. The Bank runs weekly stress tests on market-related risks across the 
lines of business using multiple scenarios that assume significant changes in risk factors such as 
credit spreads, equity prices, interest rates, currency rates or commodity prices.  
 
The Bank uses a number of standard scenarios that capture different risk factors across asset 
classes including geographical factors, specific idiosyncratic factors and extreme tail events. The 
stress testing framework calculates multiple magnitudes of potential stress for both market rallies 
and market sell-offs for each risk factor and combines them in multiple ways to capture different 
market scenarios. The flexibility of the stress testing framework allows risk managers to construct 
new, specific scenarios that can be used to form decisions about future possible stress events.  
 
Stress testing complements VaR by allowing risk managers to shock current market prices to more 
extreme levels relative to those historically realised, and to stress test the relationships between 
market prices under extreme scenarios. 
 
Stress-test results, trends and qualitative explanations based on current market risk positions are 

  
 
Stress scenarios are defined and reviewed by Market Risk, and significant changes are reviewed 

reflect current market conditions.  
 
Other Non-Statistical 
 
Aside from VaR and stress testing, other specific risk measures, such as, but not limited to, credit 
spread sensitivities, net open positions, basis point values, option sensitivities,  are also utilised 
within specific market context and aggregated across businesses. 
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30 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 
 

(ii) Market risk (continued) 
 
Limits 
 

quantitative parameters within the Bank  
 

responsible for reviewing and approving limits on an ongoing basis. Limits that have not been 
reviewed within a specified time period by Market Risk Management are escalated to senior 
management.  
 
Limit breaches are required to be reported in a timely manner to limit signatories. Market Risk 
Management and senior management determine the course of action required to return to 
compliance, such as a reduction in risk or the granting a temporary increase in limits.  
 
Aged or significant breaches are escalated to senior management, the line of business risk 
committee, and/or RALCO. 
 

-annually. Limit reviews 
appropriately consider the underlying trading, investing and hedging strategies of the business, 
along with capital or regulatory requirements, as appropriate.  
 

(iii) Operational risk 
 
 Opera

To monitor and control such risk, the Bank maintains a system of comprehensive policies and 
control framework designed to provide a sound and well-controlled operational environment. 

 
 Primary responsibility for managing operating risk rests with the business managers.  These 

individuals, with the support of their staff, are responsible for establishing and maintaining internal 
control procedures that are appropriate for their operating environments.  To this end, the 
objectives of each business activities are identified and the risks associated with those objectives 
are assessed.  The business managers institute a series of standards and procedures to manage 
thes
and magnitude. 

 
 At the operational level, Internal Audit conducts annual audits and reviews on key operation areas.  

The focus of the audit is to provide assurance to management on the compliance with statutory 
requirements, laws, corporate policies and internal guidelines. 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018 (CONTINUED) 

 
 
30 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 
 
(iv) Interest rate risk 
 

Interest Rate Risk in the Banking Book (IRRBB) is defined as interest rate risk resulting from the 
-balance sheet positions) which 

includes extension of loans and credit facilities, taking deposits and issuing debt (collectively 
-

Office (T/CIO) investment portfolio and other related T/CIO activities.  Interest rate risk from non-
trading activities can occur due to a variety of factors, including but not limited to: 
 
 Difference in the timing of re-pricing of assets, liabilities and off-balance sheet instruments; 
 Differences in the balances of assets, liabilities and off-balance sheet instruments that re-

price at the same time; 
 Differences in the amounts by which short-term and long-term market interest rates 

change; 
 Impact of changes in the duration of various assets, liabilities or off-balance sheet 

instruments as interest rates change 
 
IRRBB Management 
 
T/CIO manages IRRBB exposure on behalf of the Bank by identifying, measuring, modelling and 

material balance sheet impacts of new initiatives and products and executes market transactions 
to manage interest  
 
IRRBB is evaluated using Economic Value Sensitivity under two parallel and four non-parallel 
shifts in interest rate curve on the economic value of the banking book. 
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J.P. MORGAN CHASE BANK BERHAD 
(Incorporated in Malaysia) 
 
 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018 (CONTINUED) 

 
 
30 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 

 
(iv) Interest rate risk (continued) 

 
The tables below summarises the effective average interest rate by major currencies for each class 
of financial assets and financial liabilities. The calculation of effective average interest rate excludes 
non-interest bearing financial assets and financial liabilities. 
 
                                 2018                      2017 
 RM USD RM USD 
 % % % % 
Financial assets 
 
Cash and short-term funds 3.00 2.24 2.75 1.27 
Securities purchased under 
  resale agreement 3.00 - 2.75 - 
Financial assets held at fair value  
  through  3.81 - 3.89 - 
Financial assets held at fair value through  
   other com  
   available-for-sale 3.31 - 3.01 - 
Loans and advances 4.20 3.68 4.59 2.58 
Amount due from related parties - 2.06 - 1.93 
 
Financial liabilities 
 
Deposits from customers 2.13 1.10 1.89 0.24 
Deposits and placements of banks 
  and other financial institutions 3.24 1.81 2.99 0.87 
Obligations on securities sold under 
  repurchase agreements 4.62 - 4.49 - 
Amount due to related parties 2.70 1.33 2.70 1.30 
 

(v) Currency risk 
 
Currency risk is the risk to earnings and value of financial instruments caused by the fluctuations in 
foreign exchange rates. It is managed in conjunction with market risk. 
 
The table at the following page  Included in the table 

, categorised by currency. 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018 (CONTINUED) 

 
 
30 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 
 
(v) Currency risk (continued) 

 
 MYR USD EUR Others Total 
      
2018 
 
Assets 
 
Cash and short-term funds 3,394,849 1,259,373 - 10,879 4,665,101 
Securities purchased 
  under resale agreement 39,166 - - - 39,166 
Financial assets held at fair 
  value through profit and loss 2,024,152 - - - 2,024,152 
Derivative financial 
  Instruments 449,393 108,486 4,537 5,791 568,207 
Financial assets held at fair 
  value through other 
  comprehensive income 1,356,469 - - - 1,356,469 
Loans and advances 167,614 185,535 - - 353,149 
Amount due from related 
  Parties - 450,705 1,308 4,654 456,667 
Other assets# 63,098 44,537 1,004 67 108,706 
      
 7,494,741 2,048,636 6,849 21,391 9,571,617 
      
 
Liabilities 
 
Deposits from customers 1,805,543 4,211,124 38,481 9,089 6,064,237 
Deposits and placements 
  of banks and other 
  financial institutions 484,178 66,613 - - 550,791 
Obligations on securities 
  sold under repurchase  
  agreements 21,815 - - - 21,815 
Derivative financial 182,661 356,831 5,564 1,474 546,530 
  instruments 
Amount due to related 
  Parties 130,906 1,005,517 - 734 1,137,157 
Other liabilities 127,734 9,896 12 - 137,642 
      
 2,752,837 5,649,981 44,057 11,297 8,458,172 
      
 
Currency gap 4,741,904 (3,601,345) (37,208) 10,094 
     
 
#   Includes statutory deposits with BNM, tax recoverable, deferred tax assets, fixed assets and 

other assets. 
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30 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 
 
(v) Currency risk (continued) 

 
 MYR USD EUR Others Total 
      
2017 
 
Assets 
 
Cash and short-term funds 3,461,841 423,225 - 8,620 3,893,686 
Securities purchased 
  under resale agreement 46,776 - - - 46,776 
Financial assets held for 
  trading 887,490 - - - 887,490 
Derivative financial 
  instruments 426,709 89,378 131 541 516,759 
Financial assets available- 
  for-sale 148,476 - - - 148,476 
Loans and advances 63,695 150,171 2 93,209 307,077 
Amount due from related 
  parties - 547,901 900 946 549,747 
Other assets# 55,769 26,887 7 98 82,761 
      
 5,090,756 1,237,562 1,040 103,414 6,432,772 
      
 
Liabilities 
 
Deposits from customers 1,200,251 1,899,354 21,093 8,835 3,129,533 
Deposits and placements 
  of banks and other 
  financial institutions 163,372 61,010 - 380 224,762 
Obligations on securities 
  sold under repurchase  
  agreements 48,384 - - - 48,384 
Derivative financial 
  instruments 331,197 180,328 7,789 654 519,968 
Amount due to related 
  parties 182,170 1,078,203 - 92,355 1,352,728 
Other liabilities 104,030 8,347 13 49 112,439 
      
 2,029,404 3,227,242 28,895 102,273 5,387,814 
      
 
Currency gap 3,061,352 (1,989,680) (27,855) 1,141 
     
 
#   Includes statutory deposits with BNM, tax recoverable, deferred tax assets, fixed assets and 

other assets. 
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30 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 
 
(vi) Liquidity risk 

 
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Bank is unable to meet its cash flow obligations as they fall due, 
such as upon the maturity of deposits and loan draw downs. 
 
It is unusual for any bank to completely match the maturity profile of its assets and liabilities as 
business transacted is often of uncertain terms and of different types.  Therefore, controlled 
mismatching of the maturities of assets and liabilities is fundamental to prudent liquidity risk 
management of the Bank. 
 
The Bank closely monitors its liquidity risk profile with a variety of tools which includes cash flow 
forecasts and maturity mismatch reports.  The Bank has established funding guidelines on the 
amount of external funding it obtains and conducts regular stress-testing to ensure that it will be able 
to meet its obligations when they come due. 
 
The table at the following page -derivative financial assets and financial 
liabilities into relevant maturity groupings based on the remaining period from the balance sheet 
date to the contractual maturity date.  The amounts disclosed in the table are in the contractual 
undiscounted cash flows. 
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30 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 
 
(vi) Liquidity risk (continued) 
 

 Up to 1 1  3 3  12 1  5 Over 5 No specific 
   month months months years years      maturity Total 
        
2018 

Assets 

Cash and short-term 
  funds    4,630,542  - - - -  35,230   4,665,772 
Financial assets held  
  at fair value through 
  profit and loss 206,648   1,825,965 - - - 7,530 2,040,143 
Financial assets held 
  at fair value through 
  other comprehensive 
  income 400,000   762,780   200,000  - - - 1,362,780 
Loans and advances 191,762   77,155   83,143   206   883   -     353,149 
Amount due from 
  related parties 95,857 - - - -  360,810   456,667 
Securities purchased  
  under resale 
  agreement 40,108  - - - - -  40,108 
Statutory deposits 
  with Bank Negara 
  Malaysia - - - - - 2  2 
Other assets* 82,969 - - - -  3,992   86,961 
        
Total financial assets 5,647,886   2,665,900   283,143   206   883   407,564   9,005,582  
        
 
 Up to 1 1  3 3  12 1  5 Over 5 No specific 
   month months months years   years      maturity Total 
        
Liabilities 

Deposits from 
  customers 27,124   801  - - -  6,036,321   6,064,246 
Deposits and 
  placements of 
  banks and other 
  financial institutions -  - - - -  550,011   550,011 
Amount due to 
  related parties 1,006,372   -     25,205   -     -     106,265   1,137,842 
Obligations on 
  securities sold 
  under repurchase  
  agreements 21,444  - - - - -  21,444 
Other liabilities 111,661   80  181 - -  25,721   137,643 
        
Total financial 
  Liabilities 1,166,601   881   25,386   -     -     6,718,318   7,911,186 
        
 
* Other assets exclude prepayment.  
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30 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 
 
(vi) Liquidity risk (continued) 

 
 Up to 1 1  3 3  12 1  5 Over 5 No specific 
   month months months years years      maturity Total 
        
2017 

Assets 

Cash and short-term 
  funds 3,864,536 - - - - 29,684 3,894,220 
Financial assets  
  held-for-trading - 891,353  - - - - 891,353 
Financial assets 
  available-for-sale - - 150,000 - - - 150,000 
Loans and advances 171,971 74,796 58,934 264 1,112 - 307,077 
Amount due from 
  related parties - - - - - 549,747 549,747 
Securities purchased  
  under resale 
  agreement 50,132 - - - - - 50,132 
Statutory deposits 
  with Bank Negara 
  Malaysia - - - - - 2 2 
Other assets* 52,481 - - - - 356 52,837 
        
Total financial assets 4,139,120 966,149 208,934 264 1,112 579,789 5,895,368 
        
 
 
 Up to 1 1  3 3  12 1  5 Over 5 No specific 
   month months months years   years      maturity Total 
        
Liabilities 

Deposits from 
  customers 28,424 - - - - 3,101,125 3,129,549 
Deposits and 
  placements of 
  banks and other 
  financial institutions 900 - - - - 223,862 224,762 
Amount due to 
  related parties 1,328,872 - 25,188 - - - 1,354,060 
Obligations on 
  securities sold 
  under repurchase  
  agreements  48,501 - - - - - 48,501 
Other liabilities 80,467 69 - - - 31,903 112,439 
        
Total financial 
  liabilities 1,487,164 69 25,188 - - 3,356,890 4,869,311 
        
 
 
*Other assets exclude prepayment. 
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30 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 
 
(vi) Liquidity risk (continued) 

 
remaining period 

from the balance sheet date to the contractual maturity date.  The amounts disclosed in the table are 
in the contractual undiscounted cash flows. 
 
 Up to 1 1  3 3  12 1  5   Over 5 
   month months months years   years Total 
  00     
 
2018 
 
Net-settled 
  derivatives 15,661   16,503   1,188   (18,566)  (1,252)  13,534 
Gross-settled 
  derivatives 
  - Receipts 14,941,000   19,381,722   19,818,989   3,744,029   227,762   58,113,502 
  - Payments (14,938,417)  (19,388,118)  (19,841,387)  (3,764,299)  (221,344)  (58,153,565) 
       
 18,244   10,107   (21,210)  (38,836)  5,166   (26,529)
       
 
2017 
 
Net-settled 
  Derivatives 8,929 27,715 15,788 (15,064) (7,446) 29,922 
Gross-settled 
  derivatives 
  - Receipts 5,598,263 7,663,864 4,865,743 3,071,414 1,089,441 22,288,725 
  - Payments (5,597,259) (7,668,083) (4,858,440) (3,094,115) (1,081,772) (22,299,669) 
       
 9,933 23,496 23,091 (37,765) 223 18,978 
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31 FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL ASSETS AND LIABILITIES 

 
(a) Financial instruments not measured at fair value 
 

(i) Certain financial instruments 
 

 For cash and short-term funds, amount due from/to related parties, statutory 
deposits with BNM, deposits from customers, deposits and placements of banks 
and other financial institutions with maturities of less than one year, the carrying 
value is a reasonable estimate of fair value 

 
 For balances relating to the above classes of financial instruments with maturities 

of more than one year, the carrying value approximates the fair value as these 
balances are subject to variable interest rate. 

 
(ii) Loans and advances 
 
 For non-impaired fixed rate loans, fair values have been estimated by discounting 

the estimated cash flows using the prevailing market rates of loans and advances 
with similar credit ratings and maturities.  For floating-rate loans, the carrying 
amount is generally a reasonable estimate of fair value. 

 
 The fair value of impaired loans, fixed or floating are based on the carrying value 

less allowances for ECL, being the expected recoverable amount.  In arriving at 
the fair values for loans on the above bases, the total fair value of the entire loan 
portfolio has been reduced by RM204,000 (2017: RM1,326,000), being the 
carrying value of the allowance for ECL which covers unidentified losses inherent 
in the portfolio. 

 
(iii) Credit commitments 
 
 The estimated fair values are not readily ascertainable as these financial 

instruments are generally not traded.  In addition, the quantum of fees collected 
under these arrangements, upon which a fair value could be based, is not 
material. 

 
(b) Financial instruments measured at fair value 
 

(i) Financial assets held at fair value through profit and loss, fair value through other 
comprehensive income, securities purchased under resale agreement and 
obligations on securities sold under repurchase agreements 

 
 The estimated fair value is generally based on quoted market prices and 

observable market prices.  Where there is no ready market in certain securities, 
the Bank establishes fair value by using valuation techniques.  These include the 

valuation techniques commonly used by market participants. 
 
(ii) Derivative financial instruments 
 
 The fair value of foreign exchange derivatives, interest rate derivatives and equity 

derivatives is the estimated amount the Bank would receive or pay to terminate 
the contracts at the reporting date. 
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31 FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL ASSETS AND LIABILITIES (CONTINUED) 

 
(b) Financial instruments measured at fair value (continued) 
 
 MFRS 13 requires disclosure of fair value measurements by level of the following fair 

value measurement hierarchy: 
 
 (a) Level 1: quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or 

liabilities; 
 (b) Level 2: inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are 

observable for the asset or liability either directly (ie. as prices) or indirectly (ie. 
derived from prices); and 

 (c) Level 3: inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market 
data (unobservable inputs). 

 
 air 

value as at financial year ended: 
 
 2018 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total 
      
 Financial assets 
 
 Securities purchased under 
   resale agreement - 39,166 - 39,166 
 Financial assets held at 
   fair value through  
   profit and loss 
   - Securities - 2,016,622 - 2,016,622 
   - Unquoted shares - - 7,530 7,530 
 Derivative financial  
   instruments - 568,207 - 568,207 
 Financial assets held at  
   fair value through other 
   comprehensive income - 1,356,469 - 1,356,469 
 
 Financial liabilities 
 
 Obligations on securities 
   sold under repurchase 
   agreements - 21,815 - 21,815  
 Derivative financial  
   instruments - 546,530 - 546,530 
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31 FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL ASSETS AND LIABILITIES (CONTINUED) 
 
(b) Financial instruments measured at fair value (continued) 
 
 ties measured at fair 

value as at financial year ended: (continued) 
 
 2017 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total 
      
 Financial assets 
 
 Financial assets held 
   for trading - 887,490 - 887,490 
 Derivative financial  
   instruments - 516,759 - 516,759 
 Financial assets available- 
   for-sale - 148,476 - 148,476 
 
 Financial liabilities 
 
 Obligations on securities 
   sold under repurchase  
   agreements - 48,384 - 48,384 
 Derivative financial  
   instruments - 519,968 - 519,968 
 

The fair value of financial instruments traded in active markets is based on quoted market 
prices at the balance sheet date. The quoted market price used for financial assets held by 
the Bank is the current bid price. These instruments are included in Level 1. 
 
The fair value of financial instrum 
ents that are not traded in an active market is determined by using valuation techniques. 
The Bank uses a variety of methods and makes assumptions that are based on market 
conditions existing on each reporting date. Other techniques, such as estimated 
discounted cash flows, are used to determine fair value for the remaining financial 
instruments.  The fair value of interest rate swaps is calculated as the present value of the 
estimated future cash flows and the fair value of forward foreign exchange contracts is 
determined using quoted forward exchange rates at the balance sheet date. Hence, these 
investments are included in Level 2.  
 
In infrequent circumstances where the valuation technique for these instruments is based 
on significant unobservable inputs, such instruments are included in Level 3. This category 
includes unquoted shares. The fair values of unquoted shares are based on the net 
tangible assets of the affected companies or sales price for pending sales transactions. 
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32 EMPLOYEE BENEFITS 
 
Equity compensation benefits 
 
The incentive compensation benefits are determined by the ultimate holding corporation, JPMC. 
The following schemes are applicable to the employees of JPMC: 
 
Long-  
 
Under the LTIP, common stock-based awards, including stock options, restricted stock, and 

subsidiaries. 
 
Stock options are ock price on the grant 
date. Generally, options cannot be exercised until at least one year after the grant date and 
become exercisable over various periods as determined at the time of the grant. These awards 
generally expire 10 years after grant date. 
 
Restricted stock and RSUs are granted by JPMC at no cost to the recipient. These awards are 
subject to forfeiture until certain restrictions have lapsed, including continued employment for a 
specific period. The recipient of a share of restricted stock is entitled to voting rights and dividends 
on the common stock. An RSU entitles the recipient to receive a share of common stock after the 
applicable restrictions lapse; the recipient is entitled to receive cash payments equivalent to any 
dividends paid on the underlying common stock during the period the RSU is outstanding. 
 
Value Sharing Plan is a broad-based employee stock option plan in which JPMC grants stock 
options to other employees as recognition of the services rendered. 
 
(a) Restricted Stock and RSUs 
 
 Compensation expense for restricted stock and RSUs is measured based upon the 

number of shares granted multiplied by the stock price at the grant date, and is recognised 
in the income statement. 

 
                                  2018                                 2017 
   Weighted  Weighted 
   average fair  average fair 
  Number of value at  Number of value at 
  restricted grant date  restricted grant date 
  stock/RSU             USD stock/RSU            USD 
 
 Outstanding at 1 January 20,528 66.24 22,591 56.83 
 Granted during the year 5,016 112.25 7,143 84.25 
 Exercised during the year (8,924) 111.85 (9,229) 87.14 
 Cancelled during the year (115) 95.69 (354) 63.56 
 Transferred during the year 4 85.23 377 66.24 
      
 Outstanding at 31 December 16,509 85.23 20,528 66.24 
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34 CHANGE IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES  
 
Set out below are disclosures relating to the impact of the adoption of MFRS 9 of the Bank. Further 
details of the specific MFRS 9 accounting policies applied in the current financial year are 
described in more details in Note 30.  
 
i) 

financial liabilities on 1 January 2018 is as follows:  

 
                                  MFRS 139                                      MFRS 9 
 Measurement Carrying Measurement Carrying 
 category amount category amount 
  RM   RM  
Financial assets 
Cash and short-term funds Amortised cost* 3,893,686       Amortised cost  3,893,686 
Securities purchased under 
  resale agreement Amortised cost* 46,776  FVTPL 46,776 
Financial assets held at 
  fair value through profit 
  and l  Held for trading 887,490  FVTPL  896,455 
Derivative financial instruments FVTPL 516,759  FVTPL  516,759 
Financial assets held at fair 
  value through other 
  comprehensive income 
   Available-for-sale 148,476  FVOCI  148,476 
Loans and advances Amortised cost* 307,077       Amortised cost  308,279 
Amount due from related 
  parties Amortised cost* 549,747      Amortised cost  549,747 
Other assets Amortised cost* 53,854    Amortised cost  53,854 
     
Total financial assets  6,403,865  6,414,032 
     
 
Financial liabilities 
Deposits from customers Amortised cost* 3,129,533 Amortised cost 3,129,533 
Deposits and placements 
  of banks and other financial 
  institutions Amortised cost* 224,762 Amortised cost 224,762 
Obligations on securities 
  sold under repurchase 
  agreements FVTPL 48,384 FVTPL 48,384 
Derivative financial instruments FVTPL 519,968 FVTPL 519,968 
Amounts due to related 
  parties Amortised cost* 1,352,728 Amortised cost 1,352,728 
Other liabilities Amortised cost* 112,439 Amortised cost 112,785 
     
Total financial liabilities  5,387,814  5,388,160 
     
 
* The amortised cost is made up of loans and receivables and held to maturity under MFRS    
  139. 
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J.P. MORGAN CHASE BANK BERHAD 
(Incorporated in Malaysia) 
 
 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018 (CONTINUED) 
 
 

34 CHANGE IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 
ii) Reconciliation of the carrying amount in 

MFRS 139 to MFRS 9 as at 1 January 2018:  

 
 
 MFRS 139   MFRS 9 
 carrying amount   carrying amount 
 31 December 2017 Reclassification Remeasurement  1 January 2018 
     
Financial assets 
 
Cash and short-term funds 
Opening balance/Adjusted 
  opening balance 3,893,686 - - 3,893,686 
     
 
Securities purchased 
  under resale agreement 
Opening balance 46,776 (46,776) - - 
Reclassification from 
  amortised cost to FVTPL - 46,776 - 46,776 
     
Adjusted opening balance 46,776  -  -  46,776  
     
 
Financial assets held at fair 
  value through profit and loss 
   
Opening balance 887,490 (887,490) - - 
Reclassification from  
  financial assets held for   
  trading to FVTPL - 887,490 - 887,490 
Reclassification from other 
   assets to FVTPL - - - - 
Remeasurement arising from  
  reclassification of other assets  
  to financial assets held at FVTPL - - 8,965 8,965 
     
Adjusted opening balance 887,490 -  8,965  896,455 
     
Financial assets held at fair 
  value through other comprehensive 
  i  
Opening balance 148,476 (148,476) - - 
Reclassification from  
  financial assets available- 
  for-sale to FVOCI - 148,476 - 148,476 
     
Adjusted opening balance 148,476 - - 148,476 
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J.P. MORGAN CHASE BANK BERHAD 
(Incorporated in Malaysia) 
 
 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018 (CONTINUED) 
 
 

34 CHANGE IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 
ii) 

MFRS 139 to MFRS 9 as at 1 January 2018: (continued)  
 
 MFRS 139   MFRS 9 
 carrying amount   carrying amount 
 31 December 2017 Reclassification Remeasurement  1 January 2018 
     
Financial assets (continued) 
 
Loans and advances 
Opening balance 308,403 - - 308,403 
Remeasurement  expected   
  credit loss (1,326) - 1,202 (124) 
     
Adjusted opening balance 307,077  -  1,202  308,279 
     
Amount due from related parties     
Opening balance/Adjusted  
  opening balance 549,747 - - 549,747 
     
Other assets 
Opening balance 53,854 - - 53,854 
Reclassification from other assets  
  to financial assets held at FVTPL - - - - 
     
Adjusted opening balance 53,854 - - 53,854 
     
  
Financial liabilities 
Other liabilities 
Opening balance 112,439 - - 112,439 
Remeasurement  ECL - - 346 346 
     
Adjusted opening balance 112,439 - 346 112,785 
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J.P. MORGAN CHASE BANK BERHAD 
(Incorporated in Malaysia) 
 
 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018 (CONTINUED) 
 
 

34 CHANGE IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 
iii) The following table reconciles the 31 December 2017 closing impairment allowance 

measured under the MFRS 139 incurred loss model to the new impairment allowance 
measured under the MFRS 9 expected credit loss model at 1 January 2018 for financial 
assets and lending-related commitments held at amortised cost: 
 

                                                     MFRS 139                                   MFRS 9 
 Loss Reclassifi- Remeas- 
 allowance/ cation on urement  Carrying 
 provision at  of MFRS due to  amount at 
 31 December 139 carrying reclassifi-  1 January 
               2017       amounts        cation ECL         2018 
      
 
On Balance Sheet: 
Loans and advances 
  to customers 1,326 - (1,326) 124 124 
      
Off balance sheet: 
Lending-related commitments 
Provisions - - - 346 346 
      
 

 
iv) 7 and 

1 January 2018:  
 
 Impact of 
 adopting MFRS 9 
    1 January 2018 
  
Fair value reserve  AFS securities/financial assets held at FVOCI 
 
Closing balance under MFRS 139 (31 December 2017) 40 
Recognition of expected credit losses under MFRS 9 for  
  debt financial assets held at fair value through other 
  comprehensive income - 
  
Opening balance under MFRS 9 (1 January 2018) 40 
  
 
Regulatory Reserve 
 
Closing balance under MFRS 139 (31 December 2017) 2,415 
BNM 1% Regulatory Reserve 12,051 
Reversal of 1.2% Regulatory Reserve (2,415) 
  
Opening balance under MFRS 9 (1 January 2018) 12,051 
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J.P. MORGAN CHASE BANK BERHAD 
(Incorporated in Malaysia) 
 
 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018 (CONTINUED) 
 
 

34 CHANGE IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 
iv)  Impact  

1 January 2018: (continued) 
 
 Impact of 
 adopting MFRS 9 
    1 January 2018 
  
Retained earnings 
 
Closing balance under MFRS 139 (31 December 2017) 896,950 
Recognition of expected credit losses under MFRS 9 
  (loans and advances including loan commitments) (470) 
Remeasurement of securities held at FVTPL under MFRS 9 8,965 
BNM 1% Regulatory Reserve (12,051) 
Reversal of 1.2% Regulatory Reserve 2,415 
Reversal of Loan Loss Allowance under MFRS 139 1,326 
  
Opening balance under MFRS 9 (1 January 2018) 897,135 
  

 
 
35 COMPARATIVE INFORMATION 

 
The following comparative balances have been reclassified to conform with the current year's 
presentation which more accurately reflect the nature of the relevant transactions. The Bank's prior 
financial year's results were not affected by these reclassifications. 
 
 As previously Reclassi- 
         reported    fication As restated 
    
 
Interest income 135,790 (48,746) 87,044 
Other operating income 148,853 48,746 197,599 
    
 
 

36 APPROVAL OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 
The financial statements have been approved for issue in accordance with a resolution of the 
Board of Directors on 26 March 2019. 
 












